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No undertakings were entered during this hearing

     Tuesday, January 9, 2007

     --- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.

     MR. MILLAR:  Good morning everyone.  I think we will get started.

     Welcome and thank you for coming.  This is the technical conference for the IESO fees case, EB 2006-0244.  My name is Michael Millar, I am counsel for Board Staff.  With me is Robert Caputo, also of Board Staff.

     I think maybe I will start.  Many of you were here at the Issues Day, but I will just give a quick overview of how the mikes work, because it is still a fairly new system and some people are still getting used to it.

     You will see there is a button on your panel that is green.  If that button is lit, your mike is on.  If it is off, it is it off.  We are being transcribed today, so I think it is especially important your mike is on; otherwise, the court reporter will not be able to here you.  

I also ask when you are not talking, you turn it off, because they are quite sensitive and we’ve had several instances of what people thought were private conversations being broadcast to the room, and today it would be put on the transcript.  I ask you to be careful about that.  

I think what we will do is, going through the table, with appearances and introductions, I guess, and then I will hand it over to the IESO.  I believe Mr. Zacher has a brief opening presentation.  Then there will be witnesses available for questioning.  

Glen, if I am not mistaken, you have three witness panels; is that correct?

     MR. ZACHER:  I have three witness panels.

     MR. MILLAR:  I assume you will go into that in your little opening presentation, so why don't I start with my left to the introductions. 


APPEARANCES:

MR. KATSURAS:  George Katsuras with the IESO.

MR. DUFFY:  Patrick Duffy with the IESO. 

MS. LUKAN:  Paula Lukan IESO. 

MR. ENGELBERG:  Michael Engelberg, Hydro One Networks Inc.

MR. HUBERT:  Oded Hubert, Hydro One Networks.

MR. MURPHY:  Larry Murphy here for AMPCO.

MR. RODGER:  Mark Rodger, counsel to AMPCO.  

MR. ANDERSON:  Colin Anderson with Ontario Power Generation.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  James Wightman with VECC.

MR. COSLIN:  Ken Kozlin, IESO.

MR. McMURTRIE:  Alan McMurtrie, IESO, but here on behalf of the society, Society of Energy Professionals. 

MR. LONG:  Richard Long on behalf of the Society of Energy Professionals.

     MR. TRAVERS:  Scott Travers, Society of Energy Professionals.

     MR. STEPHENSON:  My name is Richard Stephenson, I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

     MR. CHANDLER:  I am Harry Chandler with the IESO.

     MR. TENCH:  I am Don Tench with the IESO.

MR. LEONARD:  I am Ted Leonard with the IESO.

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Bill Van Veghel with the IESO.

     MR. ZACHER:  My name is Glenn Zacher, with IESO.  

MR. RATTRAY:  John Rattray, counsel, IESO.  

MR. WARREN:  Jim Warren, regulatory affairs, IESO.

MS. MIKELSON:  Susan Mikelson, IESO.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, Glenn, I will turn it over to you.

     MR. ZACHER:  Thanks, Mike.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ZACHER:  

MR. ZACHER:  First off, we just want to thank all of the intervenors who submitted questions to us last week.  That was of great assistance in preparing what will hopefully expedite things today.  

We have three witness panels.  I will address the composition of those panels in a moment.

     But before we start, I just wanted to highlight a few key features of what the IESO is asking for as part of its submission and, as well, as Board Staff have requested to briefly address some of the issues that are on the Board's issue list.

     The key components of the IESO's fee application is a request for revenue requirements of $140 million, proposed 2007 capital expenditure envelope of $20 million, and a request to continue its application fee of a thousand dollars.

     Over this past year, the IESO believes it has done an effective job in managing its business, and a couple of points that I do want to bring to note are that the IESO is this year seeking an approval of its usage fee of -- which is less than 10 percent of -- 10 percent lower than its fee requested last year.  It is seeking to rebate to market participants an accumulated surplus of more than $12 million.  

The IESO has continued to progressively pay down its debt.  By the end of 2006, over 70 percent the IESO's debt load has been paid since 2002.  The IESO, despite increasing responsibilities, has continued – has kept its headcount steady, it is continuing to receive high marks on its core function, reliability through NERC-approved audits, and through the feedback that it receives from its stakeholders.

     In 2006, certain initiatives, the day-ahead commitment process and the emergency load reduction program, in particular, both assisted in meeting high demands for electricity during this past summer.

     Lastly, in developing the business plan this year, the IESO benefitted to a great extent in the stakeholdering of the business plan through the Stakeholder Advisory Committee, and ultimately the Stakeholder Advisory Committee approved that business plan.

     Let me just point out two brief changes to the IESO's prefiled evidence.  Last week, pursuant to a request from Board Staff, the IESO filed the full Towers Perrin 2006 competitive compensation review.

     And, as well, yesterday the IESO filed its updated 

day-ahead market stakeholder engagement plan, which would replace the draft stakeholder engagement plan that is included in the materials.  We will formally amend the evidence as may be required later.

     With respect to the issues, I am not going to go through all of them, but let me just touch on a couple.  

In the area of operating costs, in particular with respect to pension costs, the IESO has achieved measurable improvements over the past year.  It has negotiated new collective bargaining agreements with the PWU and the Society, and under which it was agreed that employees have increased pension contributions and, as well, employees agreed to have discussions with the IESO over alternate pension arrangements, which was an issue that has been raised in past fees cases.  

As well, on the management group side, employee pension contributions have been increased and pension benefits have been lowered for new hires.

     On the issue of staff costs, despite new responsibilities and challenges, the IESO has managed to keep, as I mentioned, head count at the same level as 2006, and there have been relatively minor increases in overall staff cost, although costs in general have decreased.

Capital spending on the day-ahead market, as is set out in the IESO's business plan -- the day-ahead market is an initiative that is at an early stage, and the IESO is committed to extensive stakeholdering over the next six to eight months of this year.  That is set out in the updated stakeholder engagement plan.  

The IESO does not know at this stage what design may be agreed upon for that day-ahead market.  And the $16 million cost estimate, $8 million projected this year and $8 million for next year are, as set out in the business plan, a placeholder for planning purposes, and this was specifically addressed with the Stakeholder Advisory Committee.

The IESO has committed to new –- incrementally and all market evolution initiatives, including the stakeholder engagement, and, as set out, that will be -- that will progress over the next six to eight months.  

On the issue of benchmarking, the IESO has been compiling and reporting cost information, as prescribed by the FERC-approved uniform system of accounts, which has been published on the IESO website.  The IESO has been collecting data submitted to FERC by other IESOs and RTOs and posting this data, as well.

     It will, by approximately mid-year, have a full year of data and in the first quarter of this year will undertake the -- will start to undertake the necessary comparison and analysis with a view to providing that analysis as part of its next fees case.

     In terms of coordination with the Ontario Power Authority, the IESO has acted diligently to ensure there is no duplication in activities and to search for and achieve efficiencies.  

The IESO and the OPA have entered into a memorandum of understanding identifying specific areas where their activities may be coordinated and where efficiencies may be exploited, and IESO and OPA, board members, staff, management-level staff have met on a regular basis in order to try and coordinate activities and to always search for increased efficiencies.  

In certain areas, in particular with respect to sector development, the IESO and the OPA have clearly delineated where one organization takes a lead role, where another organization takes a support role.

     Lastly, in the area of stakeholdering, the IESO is engaged in extensive stakeholdering through this past year, in particular through its stakeholder -- through the Stakeholder Advisory Committee.  

In the areas of long-term vision or market evolution, the IESO has, in addition to stakeholdering through the SAC, has also engaged in targeted consultation with key stakeholders, and the output of these stakeholdering sessions has informed the views which are articulated in the IESO's business plan.

     As set out, again, in the most recent stakeholder engagement updated plan, that is, those are activities that are going to continue throughout the next year.

     Those are my comments.

     Let me just quickly address the witness panels.  We have put together three panels.  The first panel, which gentlemen are sitting here, that we propose calling will deal with issues number 1, operating costs; number 4, benchmarking; and number 6, reliability.  And the witnesses on that panel will be Bill Van Veghel, who is the manager of human resources; Ted Leonard, director of finance; Don Tench, the IESO's director of planning and assessments; and lastly, Harry Chandler, who is the director of the market assessment and compliance division, and Mr. Chandler is also the chair of the technical panel.

     The second panel will address issues number 5, OPA and IESO coordination; 7, performance measures; and number 8,

stakeholdering.  And the witnesses on that panel will also be Mr. Tench, Mr. Leonard, and as well Ken Kozlik, who is the IESO's director of market evolution.  

     And the final panel will address issues number 2, capital spending on the day-ahead market; and 3, day-ahead market evolution.  And the witnesses on that panel will be Mr. Kozlik and Mr. Leonard.  

Those are my remarks, thank you.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Glenn.  I guess we will get started with questions.

I had planned to go first, but I don't know if people have somewhere they need to be or if someone has a request to go first or if there is any objections to that.  Does anyone have a problem with us starting things off?

     Mr. Caputo and I have sort of divided the questions; in fact, he is doing most of them, but I am doing the first questions on the operating costs.

     We had prefiled some questions and there will probably be some follow up questions based on the answers.  And also I have a couple of questions on the Towers Perrin study which was filed a little bit later, last week.

     MR. ZACHER:  Mike, can I interject?  Can I get some water for these fellows?  

MR. KATSURAS:  It has just come in.

     MR. MILLAR:  It's on its way.  It should be here any moment, I think.  


PANEL 1:


Bill Van Veghel; Ted Leonard; Don Tench; Harry

Chandler


EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  I will start with some questions about pensions.  You have our general question.  Maybe I will ask if you could turn to page 40 of the business plan.  The full reference is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1.  

There is a chart on that page that shows the actuals and the projected for pension costs, among other things, from, I guess, 2004 all the way up to 2009.

     I note that you have a 2006 projected number of 17.4 million; is that correct?

     MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  And I believe the Board approved -- could I ask you to confirm that the Board approved for 2006 was $16 million; is that correct?

     MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Can you explain where the -- what caused the additional 1.4 million in expenditures or, at least, projected expenditures?

     MR. LEONARD:  Yes.  That difference of 1.4 million is largely due to two factors:  They relate to assumptions that are made in terms of forecasting the pension expense, the largest factor being that of the discount rate.  In its 2006/2008 business plan, the IESO had assumed a discount rate of 5.45 percent; whereas, the actual discount rate at the time of measurement was 5.1 percent.  That served to increase the pension expense by $2 million.

     The other factor that had a material impact was the return earned on those assets.  The actual return earned on those assets over the period was 17 percent, which served to decrease our pension expense by roughly $600,000.  

So the net of those two changes resulted in the increase of 1.4 million.

     MR. MILLAR:  What was the projected return?  You said the actual was 17 percent.

     MR. LEONARD:  It was 8.2 percent, and that reflected the actual return on assets roughly to the end of April 2005.

     MR. MILLAR:  Forgive my ignorance on some of these matters, but who sets the discount rate?  How do you determine the discount rate?  Is that done internally or done externally?

     MR. LEONARD:  It’s done externally.  It is crafted by our actuary and the nature of the calculation is prescribed under Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

     Is any of the –- no, actually I think you already answered that, thank you.  

I see some other people have questions about pensions as well.  That is probably not the end of it, but that is all that I have at this moment.

     If we could move on to staff costs.  I would just like to confirm, first of all, if we could turn to page 41 of the business plan, the next page.  I see that the projected, the 2006 projected figure for staff costs is 58.4 million.  If I am not mistaken, that was also the Board-approved; is that correct?  Or is there a change there?

     I note from your last business plan, it is listed at 58.5 for 2006.  Now it is 58.4.  I believe the Board-approved was 58.5, so we are essentially the same number; is that right?

     MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.  The comparisons of actual or projected versus the Board-approved budget for 2006 in that area are included on page 30 of the business plan.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Can you confirm for me:  In our prefiled questions we listed the percentage increase over the years, and by our calculations the increase in staff costs from 2006 to 2007 is a 5.3 percent increase.  It is 1.8 percent to 2008, and then 3.5 percent again for 2009.

     Do you agree with those figures?  Is our math right?

     MR. LEONARD:  I didn't recalculate the percentage increases.

     MR. MILLAR:  So subject to check, do you accept those figures?

     MR. LEONARD:  Sure, yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. -- I don't know if this is a question for him or if you can answer that.  He mentioned that there has been a new collective bargaining agreement with the Society since this evidence was filed; is that correct?  Or am I mistaken?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  There was a new collective agreement with the Society that was negotiated in December of this year.  In 2006, sorry, not this year.

     MR. MILLAR:  That's right, yes.

     Is that new collective agreement going to occasion any changes to your evidence?  Are there any changes to the numbers that flow from that?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  No, I don't believe that there will be.  The percentage increases, in terms of compensation costs, were roughly in line with what we said and the pension expenses have built in long-term assumptions that we would not change as a result of one collective agreement.

     MR. MILLAR:  So you are not seeking any changes to your revenue requirement resulting from this collective bargaining agreement?

     MR. LEONARD:  The results of bargaining, I guess from a staff cost perspective, we believe are in line with what we are -- our initial filings.

     From a pension perspective, there has been a change in respect of employee contributions, but the impact of that from a pension expense perspective for 2007 is such that we are not seeking an amended application.

     MR. MILLAR:  Just to confirm, this CVA is resulting in no changes to your application.

     MR. LEONARD:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

I would like to turn to the Towers Perrin.  I don't know if you have a copy with you.

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Yes, I do.

     MR. MILLAR:  I know most of the charts are reproduced in the application, so we can look at either one.  

One of the things I would like to check with you as we start, are the figures in this report based on 2006 compensation levels?  I guess for both the comparators and for the IESO?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Yes, they were.

     MR. MILLAR:  So they wouldn't incorporate the increases that you are projecting for 2007 through 2009?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  No, they would not.

     MR. MILLAR:  I guess in fairness, it also wouldn't include any increases that might happen to the comparators?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  I just want to make sure I am able to read this correctly.  If I could ask you to turn -– it might be – it is both in the prefiled.  It is in the -- in the prefiled evidence.  I believe it is at Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1.  I think it is at page 8 there.  Of course, it is also in the report itself.

     It might be useful, actually, to give this an exhibit number for the purpose of this technical conference, since it is not in the prefiled evidence.  So if I recall correctly, exhibits are K, and we will call it “KT” to signify the technical conference, so we will call this Exhibit KT1.

     EXHIBIT NO. KT1:  TOWERS PERRIN REPORT

     MR. MILLAR:  So if I look at the study itself, just a clarification question to begin.  I note on page 7 – again, this is of the report itself - I notice there is a box for senior management, both under the first chart there and the second, the band midpoint and the actuals, there is a line for senior management.

     I note that that is since reproduced in the prefiled evidence, although all of the other categories are.  Is there a reason that was not in the prefiled evidence?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  I'm sorry, which component?  The senior management, I think, is in both of the -- in the full chart and on the prefiled evidence.

     MR. MILLAR:  There is a management group overall.

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Right.

     MR. MILLAR:  Which I do see reproduced in the prefiled.  But then there is a senior management category that, unless I am missing it, I don't see it in the prefiled.

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  If you look on page 8 and you look at the bottom line --

     MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Is it incorporated?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  Well, then that is just my misreading of the chart, so I apologize for that.  That is cleared up, thank you.

     But again looking at these charts, just to make sure I understand them correctly, if you look again -- perhaps it is easy to look in the prefiled, because they are all reproduced in two charts rather than split up over a couple of pages in the Towers Perrin report itself.  

If you look under “Total compensation,” for example, under “Actuals,” which is the bottom chart on page 8 of Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, you see under the Total compensation, 50th percentile, you will see “plus 14,” “plus 17,” “plus 19” and “plus 9.”

     The way I read that is to suggest that the IESO total compensation under those categories is 14 percent above the mean or the median or -- I'm not sure how we characterize the 50th percentile.  Is it that’s how much it is over the average?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Over the median.

     MR. MILLAR:  Over the median.

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  If I look a little bit earlier in Exhibit B, tab 3, page 4 under 2.0 “Compensation undertakings from 2007 fee submission review.”  If I look at the second paragraph under there, it says: 

“The IESO will continue to gather market data and utilize median compensation levels as a guide in making compensation decisions.”

     So am I right in saying that the Towers Perrin study shows that comparison, it is the median compensation levels?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  The median would be the 50 percent level.

     MR. MILLAR:  Would be the 50th percentile.

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  A little bit further down in that paragraph, the last sentence says: 

“This approach is consistent with industry practice in which percentile compensation levels are used as a guide in assessing appropriate compensation levels for specific organizations.”

    Again, if we look at the charts themselves, it appears to me the IESO is a bit over the median.  Is that fair to say?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That is fair to say.  That's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  That's across the board and that is for both the first and the second chart, which is the policy line to market and the actuals to market; is that correct?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Yes, we are above the median.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is the IESO -- you have indicated your goal is to bring yourselves in line with the median.  Sorry, I shouldn't say “your goal.”  One of the inputs in your decisions for compensation is the median.

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  One of the inputs, that's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  I see that you are above the median.  So can you help us reconcile the statement that you use the median as a guide, and the fact that you are, in some cases, almost 20 percent above the median?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, what we have done is, as outlined in page 4 of this exhibit, we used the median as a guide in compensation decisions.

     There are other factors, internal relativities, arbitrators reports, other pressures, needs for skills, that kind of thing, that come into play when making decisions with respect to compensation.

In terms of looking at it with this particular round of negotiations that we have just recently been through, the input that we have had from external consultants, whether it be Mercers, whether it be Watson Wyatts, and Morneau Sobeco, and some of the others, is that the expectation in 2007 of the increases in the -- in compensation across the economy would be in the range of about 3.5.  

So our approach is to attempt to work through these negotiations in such a way that our increases are somewhat below the expectation of the increases in the economy over the next year.

     MR. MILLAR:  Is your increase for 2007 not 5.3 percent?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  I'm sorry?

     MR. MILLAR:  I thought the increase for 2007 is at 5.3 percent, the total staff compensation increase for 2007.

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  The total staff may be; I don't know.  I haven't calculated that.  But the increases for 2007, with respect to the collective agreements and the salary schedule increases and so forth, in the collective agreements with the PWU and Society, is for 3 percent.

     MR. ZACHER:  Just so we are not at cross-purposes, Mr. Van Veghel is talking about compensation levels, on the one hand, and the 5.3 percent you are talking about are the overall increases in staff costs.

     MR. MILLAR:  The total staff costs, okay.  Thank you for that clarification.

     I heard what you said; the Towers Perrin study is a guide; it is an input in your decision on staff costs.  Is there a problem with the comparators that were used by the Towers Perrin study?  I recognize that you have -- there are different things you look at when you are setting compensation levels and that is one of the things.

     As I understand the way this report works, they essentially go to a list of -- and it depends on the category, but it looks like 10 to 20 comparable organizations.  I assume those organizations, many of them are in Ontario; certainly a lot of them appear to be in Alberta; many of these would have similar pressures that the IESO would have.  Is that fair to say?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  I am not sure exactly what pressures each of them would have, but there would be some pressures that would be somewhat the same, yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  Is there anything unique about the IESO that is leading to some cost pressures that might not be relevant for some of the comparators?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  I guess the major component is that for a large sector of our employee body, these are collectively bargained, and the extent to which a lot of the other comparators would have collectively bargained agreements, I am not entirely sure to what extent but I would not think it would be to a similar extent as we face at the IESO.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, again, I am not terribly familiar with many of these organizations.  I believe at least some of them also have collective agreements, but I don't have any specific knowledge of that, so I guess I will leave that.  

You would agree with me -- I am not suggesting that you haven't done this, but collective bargaining agreement or not, the costs still have to be reasonable.  Just because it is a collective bargaining agreement doesn't mean that anything goes.  

I think you would agree with that?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  We would agree that we need to make sure that our compensation levels are reasonable, in terms of both being able to attract the kind of quality of staff and skill level that we need and, on the other hand, reasonable in terms of the cost of those relative to other firms out there.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

     I am going to move on.  I just have a couple of questions about administrative costs.  I am looking now, again, at the business plan, page 41.  If we look at this chart, it shows 2007 projected expenses at 5.5 million; is that correct?

     MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  I believe - and you can correct me if I am wrong or take it subject to check - the Board-approved was 6.3 million for 2006?

     MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Maybe you could explain the difference between the 6.3 and the 5.5.

     MR. LEONARD:  If I might refer you to page 31 of that same business plan.

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

     MR. LEONARD:  In terms of administrative –- administration costs, the majority of that $800,000 variance for 2006 is projected to be the result of a shifting timing of the IESO relocating its back-up operating centre, and what that entails is so in the 2006 budget, it would have been an overlapping period of rent for our existing back-up facility, as well as the new one to allow for that transition, as well as the expectation of increased cost from a rent perspective at the new facility.

     MR. MILLAR:  Has that cost now been shifted to 2007?  Does that account for part of the increase for the 2007 budget?

     MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  Are there any other drivers behind the increase in the budget over the two years?

     MR. LEONARD:  Yes, the other principal driver is in respect of membership costs; the IESO being the -- being responsible for being a member of NPCC or North-east Power Coordinating Council, the fees paid to NPCC, the membership fees are projected to increase by 600,000 in 2007, and that is a result of increased activities by FERC as an ERO.

     Any other drivers?

     MR. LEONARD:  No.  Those are the two principal drivers.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, gentlemen.  That is all I have on operating costs.  

I believe Mr. Caputo has issues 4 and 6 that you are dealing with.


EXAMINATION BY MR. CAPUTO:

     MR. CAPUTO:  The next set of questions relate to capital spending, and these are based on evidence filed in Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, which is the IESO 2007 to 2009 business plan.

     MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Caputo, sorry, which issue?  Are you talking about issue number 2?

     MR. CAPUTO:  Yes, capital spending.  Sorry, are we going -- this set of questions is to do with benchmarking.

     Now, we noticed that in the IESO's 2006 fee submission, the IESO committed to track and report costs consistent with FERC's order number 668 and the category that it includes.  Sorry, that it will include in its 2007 business case.  This information was provided by the IESO, and it is provided in Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1.

     Now, in the first reference, the IESO indicates that it plans to either undertake or participate in a comprehensive analysis of the full year 2006 results that will become available in the first quarter of 2007.

     The Board is interested in exploring whether the IESO's proposal to track and report comparative costs meets FERC's requirements and whether it is consistent with good governance practices.

     Now, the first question related to that is, or the first request:  Please provide an update on the status of the IESO's compilation of information in accordance with the FERC cost comparison process.

     MR. LEONARD:  As you have outlined, Mr. Caputo, in our filing of evidence in support of this application, we have tracked our costs consistent with that FERC order.  That is included in Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1.  As well, we have included that comparative information for those IESOs and RTOs that are required by FERC to file that information.  Subsequent to this, we have provided the third-quarter cost information of the IESO on its website.

     MR. CAPUTO:  Thanks for that.  

The next question is:  Do the comparative figures take into account the load levels of the various IESOs and RTOs?

     MR. LEONARD:  The information provided in that exhibit here are actual costs of the IESO and the other IESOs and RTOs.  They haven't been -- no adjustments have been made to any of those numbers for any factors, whether it be load or other factors used in analyzing costs. 

     MR. CAPUTO:  Are you able to provide a revised list of the cost figures adjusted for load levels?

     MR. LEONARD:  As I indicated, the numbers presented are the actual costs.  One of the drivers behind the IESO's interest, which spans back -- all the way back to 2004 in doing a cost comparison analysis, is ensuring that when the comparison is undertaken, the appropriate and relevant factors are utilized in performing that assessment.  

Load levels -- or in the judgment of the IESO, load levels are about one factor to take when you do that analysis.  

Other factors might be transmission system size, number of connection points, your role in settlement to the marketplace, including your role in meters, how you operate your system, what markets you do operate.  That and other factors are what we plan to utilize when we do undertake that fulsome review that we plan in 2007.

     MR. CAPUTO:  But you agree that load levels would be a significant factor in this?  You would expect a utility with a large load to have higher costs than one with significantly lower load levels?

     MR. LEONARD:  I would agree that in some areas of an IESO or RTO's business, the size of your load may drive your costs, but I also believe there is many areas of the business, such as - I will use the example of stakeholdering - the size of your footprint is largely -- the costs associated with stakeholdering are largely irrelevant to how large your footprint is.

     You need -- the appropriate driver there may be the number of market participants.

     MR. CAPUTO:  Now, you mentioned that you will adjust the numbers to take into account, other factors in your next review of this?

     MR. LEONARD:  It is not as much we would adjust the numbers.  The actual costs are the actual costs.  But how we do -- how we perform the comparison of our costs relative to others may be normalized based on multiple different factors in different areas of the business.  Yes, I would agree with that.

     MR. CAPUTO:  All right.  The next question:  In the IESO's opinion, are there additional measures that the IESO should undertake to improve disclosure and transparency of costs?  If so, please explain.

     MR. LEONARD:  No.  At this time, the IESO believes the information it disclosed are fulsome and we operate in a transparent manner in respect of our costs.  

In the information we provide in our annual rate application, as well as our quarterly financial reporting, that is published on our website, we believe that to be fulsome.

     One of the outcomes of this benchmark comparison initiative may be that we identify other information that would be useful for public disclosure and public reporting, but we believe it is premature at this time to make that assessment.

     MR. CAPUTO:  Thank you.  That completes the questions on benchmarking.

     The next set of questions relate to reliability.  The references related to reliability are, number 1, Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1, which is the IESO's 2007 to 2009 business plan, and also page 24 of that same document.  The first question related to reliability:  Does the IESO have plans to continue the day-ahead commitment process and the emergency load reduction program in 2007?

     MR. TENCH:  Yes, we do intend to continue those programs.

     MR. CAPUTO:  Now, what improvements or modifications are required to ensure that the 2007 summer peak load can be met and what are the estimated costs for these improvements?

     MR. TENCH:  There are no specific measures as implemented for the summer of 2006.  You will recall when we implemented the ACP and the ELRP, there are no similar measures to be implemented for the summer of 2007.  And while there may be incremental not-significant changes to process, we are not anticipating making any major changes to processes prior to summer.

     MR. CAPUTO:  Now, reference 2 did mention that improvements and modifications must be approved by the IESO board prior to the summer of 2007.  What improvements and modifications does that refer to, then?

     MR. TENCH:  Can I check your reference?

     MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.

     MR. TENCH:  This is page 24?

     MR. CAPUTO:  Page 24, yes.

     MR. TENCH:  Where on that page?

     MR. CAPUTO:  The last two bullets, actually.

     MR. TENCH:  Yes.  All right.  What it identified there is the -- at the time the business plan was filed, the IESO board, I believe, had not recommended the continuance of the ACP.  Since that time, the -- it has been decided to continue that program and any -- we are not anticipating making any significant changes to that program prior to summer.

     Now, in the case of the ELRP, it is true that it will be reviewed by the Board early in 2007, so I wouldn't rule out there may be changes to that program, but I am not anticipating changes to that program at this time.

     MR. CAPUTO:  Thanks for the clarification.  

The next question is:  What additional measures is the IESO planning to implement to ensure meeting the summer 2007 peak load and what are the estimated costs?  That is in addition to the day-ahead commitment process and the emergency load reduction program.

     MR. TENCH:  Those measures were deemed to be very effective.  As I said – and, you know, they are continuing.

     There are a number of minor incremental changes to processes intended to improve efficiency of operation, but there are no significant undertakings to be implemented prior to summer 2007.

     MR. CAPUTO:  Thank you.  Could you please comment on the likelihood that the IESO will be able to -- well, actually, there are no additional measures, is what you are saying.

     MR. TENCH:  That's correct.

     MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  I guess that completes the questions on reliability.

     MR. MILLAR:  I think that is all for the panel.  So thank you, panel.  

Who wants to go next?  I don't know if people have discussed amongst their selves or if people want to jump in or if we should just go around the room.  Any volunteers?  You are not a shy bunch.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.

     EXAMINATION BY MR. MACINTOSH:

MR. MACINTOSH:  We prefiled our questions.

The first one is on operating costs.  Our reference is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, pages 44 to 47.

     The evidence in EB-2005-0499 proceeding, Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 27, in the section titled “O&M pension expense”:  

“Outline increasing pension obligations which are being subjected to a smooth valuation of assets in calculating the IESO pension expense which can result in increased pension costs being realized in the future.”

     The 2006 pension expense budget of $16 million is projected in the current proceeding to be 17.4, an increase from the 2005 actual of 8.3 million.  A partial explanation for this pension expense increase over budget for 2006 in a paragraph on page 11 -- I'm sorry, in a paragraph on page 31 under the title "O&M pension expenses" is that the actual discount rate for 2006 was 5.1 percent, slightly below the 5.45 percent assumed in the 2006-2008 business plan.     

For our first question, we would like you to reconcile this partial explanation with the second bullet on page 46, which states that:  

“Over the last few years, long-term discount rates have been dropping significantly; however, in 2006, they have recovered somewhat.”

     MR. LEONARD:  You are correct in those references that we have identified that discount rates have recovered somewhat, or long-term rates have started to increase in 2006.  The 2006 pension expense, however, is based on a measurement date of September 30th, 2005.  So the discount rate utilized in calculating that still was in that period of lower interest rates.  So it really is; it is a function of timing.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  So that won't impact until the next year?

     MR. LEONARD:  That's correct.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.  Please explain how the negative amount of 19.5 million, under expected return on assets, was derived in the table on page 46.  And the previous calculation in the previous year was given to CME in their interrogatory of 6.11.  And if you were to update that chart, that would be an acceptable format.

     MR. LEONARD:  We do have that as information to hand out.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.

     MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we can give that exhibit number KT number 2.

EXHIBIT NO. KT2:  “Reconciliation of Expected Return on Assets between Projected 2006 and Budgeted 2007"
     MR. LEONARD:  I am not sure, Mr. MacIntosh, if you want me to walk through it.  It is the same format as last year.  It is really an updating of information.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  That's fine.  We just needed that information. 

     MR. LEONARD:  Thank you.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Next series of questions, Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, pages 2 to 4, the evidence under the heading “PWU compensation program.”  

In the fourth paragraph, it indicates an increase in employee contributions was negotiated, and in discussions between the IESO and the PWU relating to a defined contribution program were included.

     The evidence under the heading “The Society Compensation Program” does not include a similar wording concerning the Society's collective agreement which expired on December 31st, 2006.  

The evidence under the heading “The Management Group Compensation Program” indicates an increase in employee pension contributions and reduced pension benefits for future hires.

     Our first question:  Could you report any progress made in discussions with PWU on moving towards a defined contribution pension program?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  As indicated on page 2, we did reach a settlement with the PWU early in 2006.  We did increase  -- as part of that collective agreement, the employee contributions were increased and there was a provision set out for discussion of possible alternative pension arrangements, and there was a date set for having that discussion by April the 1st, 2008.  

Let me just double-check that date.  April 1st, 2008.  So we are to meet and to have those discussions before April 1st, 2008.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Could you describe the progress made with the Society on moving toward a defined contribution pension program.

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  We have, as I mentioned earlier -- we concluded negotiations with the Society in December of 2006.  And there were similar provisions within the collective agreement with the Society with respect to pensions.

     First of all, there were an increase in employee pension contributions, while the employers contributing, and there were provisions for discussion of possible alternative pension arrangements to be conducted with the Society, and those -– the date for that was that those discussions would be held before January 1st, 2010.

     Let me just verify that date for you.  January 1, 2010.  In both cases, these were three-year agreements.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Now, looking toward management to lead the way, what progress have you made with them in moving toward a defined contribution pension program?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  With respect to management, what we have done is we have implemented a change in employee contribution levels there, also.  And we have increased employee contributions fairly significantly for employee -- for management employees, while the employer's contributing.

     We have also put in place some new provisions for new hires into the company after January 1, 2007 who end up in the management group, and there were significant benefits, adjustments for those people, in terms of lesser benefits than existing people.

     We have, at this point in time, not moved to defined contribution with respect to the management employees, because what we have -- in order to make the administration and costs of a defined contribution plan viable or beneficial in the future, we felt we needed the commitment of at least one of the unions in order to make the costs not be prohibitive.

     So what we have done is we have put in place something to address current cost-sharing arrangements, provision for lower benefit expenses in the future, and we have in place the commitment with the unions, and you need to see where that takes us.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.  Moving to tab 3 in Exhibit B, schedule 1, page 6.  The next questions relate to the IESO human resources and governance committee of the Board.

     The evidence states that they are familiar with the characteristics of defined benefit and defined contribution plans.  They felt there was no need to conduct a study on relative advantages and disadvantages of such programs for all employee categories.

     A number of members of the pension management committee have been in that position of responsibility during the period that pension expenses moved from less than 5 percent of total IESO costs to over 12 percent.  They would all be employees of the applicant and enrolled in the defined benefit pension plan.

     Please advise whether or not the IESO has ever undertaken a study on the advantages of the two types of pension programs through their current actuaries, or other external consultants.

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  In terms of the first part of that question regarding the pension management committee, while there are members on that pension management committee who obviously are employees, the decisions with respect to pension plan design are not under the authority of the pension management committee.  They are part of the Board, and normally any plan design issues go to the human resources and governance committee of the Board and they then make recommendations to the full board.  It is not under the purview of the pension management committee in terms of plan designs.

     In terms of studies, certainly we have had discussions with our actuaries and with other consultants with respect to defined benefits and defined contribution plans.  And in terms of those discussions, we have been involved in meetings, in conferences, and so forth.

     However, in terms of a formal study, we have not requested nor received a formal study with respect to a defined contribution plan that might be appropriate for the IESO.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.  I would like to turn now to issue number 6, reliability; reference being Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, pages 6 and 7.  The evidence beginning at the last paragraph on page 6 under the heading “The Challenge Ahead” is presented as follows:

“The power system that the IESO will operate in the future will be dramatically different from today.  The expected effort to support these changes has not decreased and may be greater than originally anticipated, particularly in respect to the technical, analytical, and training support many of these new and modified generation and transmission systems will require for proper incorporation.  The relatively few existing resources that have similar operating characteristics, and common operators are to be replaced with many dozens of resources with known varied characteristics and multiple controlling participants.  This will have a large and enduring impact across the organization.”

     Again, on page 7, under the heading "Plan of action," the evidence states:

“Over the business planning horizon, the IESO will, in addition to its ongoing work programs, maintain and enhance its technical capabilities needed to address Ontario's supply mix, transmission and demand profile changes, and continue to develop and declare reliability standards to be applied in the planning and operation of Ontario's changing electricity system.”

     My first question:  We would like you to indicate the capacity value that the IESO assigned to wind generation for the purpose of meeting summer peak requirements and the basis for that capacity value prior to the release of the GE Energy, AWS Truewind Wind Integration Study of 2006.

     MR. TENCH:  Yes.  The capacity value that we assigned for wind is equal to 10 percent over the summer peak period.  This value, and it is described in a document posted on our website titled “Methodology to perform long-term assessments,” was determined following a review of work done in New York, PJM, and also looking at a report prepared by CanWEA in 2003 -- sorry, 2005.

     Based on that review, we established the 10 percent capacity factor for wind resources.

MR. MACINTOSH:  “Regarding the GE Energy, AWS Truewind

Wind Integration Study, please provide the following:  The notice to consultants indicating the scope of the study which the IESO issued or which was issued on behalf of the IESO in conjunction with other parties; any supporting materials associated with the competition to retain a suitable consultant; any conflict guidelines that the IESO has relevant to the retention of consulting like those required” - I should say – “consultants like those required in the Wind Integration Study, the summary of the cost-sharing arrangements that the IESO entered into with the OPA and CanWEA, and the actual cost to the IESO for the GE Energy, AWS Truewind Wind Integration Study.”

     MR. TENCH:  The notice to consultants was posted on the OPA website February 20th.  I can provide you with a copy of that, if it is not available on their website.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.

     MR. TENCH:  The RFP has requirements in it for disclosure of conflict of interest.  And those were the guidelines that were used for conflict of interest.  

So you will find that in the RFP.  It was a competitive open process in which GE Energy, and AWS Truewind were selected.

     The process was run by the Ontario Power Authority and with input from CanWEA and the IESO, and the costs were shared.  OPA and IESO shared an equal cost of the project, and CanWEA a smaller portion.

     The actual amounts, IESO was limited – neglecting contingency amounts.  The IESO was limited to approximately $60,000, their contribution.  I believe OPA was similar.  And CanWEA was limited to approximately $20,000.

     Actual costs for the study were less than those amounts.  I don't have the final numbers for the project.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.  The study we are referring to was issued on October 24th, 2006 and relied exclusively on forecasted output, although at the time the study was issued, three large-scale commercial wind farms had been in service in Ontario for a number of months and actual production data was available.

     The first wind farm began operation on March 4th near Shellburne; Barrie Shores began commercial operation on May 24th south of Tillsonburg; and Kingsbridge began commercial operation on March 16th near Goderich.  

     In addition, several years of actual wind power production data was available from Huron Wind.  Please indicate why the study did not address actual production results.

     MR. TENCH:  Certainly.  The objective of the study was to assess the impact of large penetrations -- large amounts of wind on the Ontario system.  And in order to do that, it was necessary to use a larger potential data set for modelling the wind resources than existed with the plants that were available and operating in Ontario.  So it is not that that information wasn't important.  It is simply that it -- we needed a larger geographic data set of information to assess the impact of large amounts of wind on system operation.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  So the data set was all forecast data? 

     MR. TENCH:  The data was provided by CanWEA on a confidential basis and it was actual wind data from a large number of actual monitoring, and that is the basis.

     Now, from that, it was translated into a useful form for extrapolating to larger amounts of wind generation

     MR. MACINTOSH:  So it was wind measurement but not production measurement?

     MR. TENCH:  That's correct.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.  Since the release of that study in 2006, please indicate the capacity value that the IESO assigns to wind generation for purposes of meeting summer peak requirements in 2007 and beyond and the basis for that capacity value.

    MR. TENCH:  We continue to use the capacity value of 10 percent, recognizing that there is work underway.  The GE study is one aspect of that work to assess what will be used in the longer term.

     Another element of that assessment is the generating facilities that you mentioned, the actual wind production.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Yes.

     MR. TENCH:  And we intend to, through a working group we have established called the Wind Integration Working Group, to address the capacity factor to be used in the long term for our forecasting purposes.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  I am sure that if the temperature is 45 degrees and there is no wind, that some of us might be concerned that 10 percent of power you are relying on is wind power.  But that is a discussion for another day.

     Should I be asking this panel a stakeholdering question?

     MR. ZACHER:  That will be a further panel.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  I didn't hear in the beginning who the second panel was, so I will pass it on to the next questioner.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thanks, David.  

Just before we go to the next -- we do have some water in the next room now.  So maybe I think it might be a little early for a break, unless people are really itching to get out of here.  Maybe Robert can assist me and we will get four bottles of water for the panel at least or -- unless people want to take a short break now.  Is that easier?   I see some people nodding.  Why don't we take ten minutes now; that way everyone can get a drink and collect themselves.

     Ten minutes.  Thank you.

     --- Recess taken at 10:45 a.m.

‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:00 a.m.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I think we will get started again, if everyone is ready.


MR. ZACHER:  Mike, just before you get started, Mr. Tench referred to the OPA RFP for wind integration study, so we have a copy of that, so we should probably have that marked as the next exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Glen.  That will be KT-3.


EXHIBIT NO. KT-3:  OPA RFP FOR WIND INTEGRATION

STUDY

 MR. MILLAR:  Have we decided who is going next?  Mark, is it you or ...

     MR. ENGELBERG:  Let's go around the table.


MR. MILLAR:  Sure thing.


EXAMINATION BY MR. ENGELBERG:  


MR. ENGELBERG:  Michael Engelberg for Hydro One Networks.


Can you tell me whether the IESO anticipates establishing any new reliability standards or criteria for Ontario in this upcoming business planning period, 2007 to 2009?


MR. TENCH:  I can tell you that we don't anticipate establishing something in the domain of NERC and NPCC standards at this time.  The need may arise, and, if it does arise, then we will establish those standards through existing processes.


That said, we do see that there will be changes to market rules associated with reliability requirements, as there have been since the market opened, and those, again, would be developed through the existing processes.  


So if your question is, Do you see a significant standard in the wings to be developed in the near future, I don't see that at this time, but I don't rule out that possibility in future.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, you referred in your answer to NERC and NPCC standards.  Does that mean that for the foreseeable future the IESO intends to use the standards and criteria established by those organizations?


MR. TENCH:  Well, as we have done in the past, we are required to abide by those standards.  We would establish something in addition to that where there was some specific reliability need associated with Ontario that differentiated us from those particular standards.  


So we do intend to abide by those standards, as we have, and, if necessary, go beyond those where it is essential.


MR. ENGELBERG:  I didn't really intend to get into this, but since it is part of your answer, what would ‑‑ what situation is there in Ontario that you see as creating the need to require development of standards separate and apart from those established by the two organizations you mentioned?


MR. TENCH:  Well, I think, as I said, at this time I do not see a need to establish that or an additional requirement.


I think Ontario is different than other jurisdictions in some respects, in terms of its geography or in terms of its weather or in terms of its generation mix, and there may be occasions, as the system evolves, where it is necessary -- we're sufficiently different than other jurisdictions where we would need something just for Ontario.


Again, I am not identifying that as something we have on our books to do.


MR. ENGELBERG:  I understand.  If that situation does occur or the IESO sees that situation as occurring, would the IESO be developing a framework for assessing the costs and benefits of such standards and would the IESO actually assess and stakeholder those standards, or would it be something that the IESO develops without such a process?


MR. TENCH:  Well, we believe that we have those processes in existence today for development of market rules.  Those include components of cost benefit considerations, as well as appropriate stakeholdering before those rules are approved. 


So I anticipate that an Ontario specific standard would be developed through that existing process, which includes the elements that you mentioned.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Would that be primarily through the technical panel?


MR. TENCH:  I expect that the market rule process is where that development would occur, so, yes.  

Harry, as the chair of the technical panel, do you want to comment?


MR. CHANDLER:  I guess I would just add, I guess, our view is if there are reliability standards, they would come through the technical panel and be stakeholdered in those well‑established procedures.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Does the IESO's business plan, as it now stands, include resources to develop and stakeholder an objective and transparent framework to guide the application of financial penalties?


MR. CHANDLER:  No, it doesn't.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Does the IESO intend to introduce a plan and seek resources to fund it in order to carry out such duties with a clear objective and creation of a transparent framework?


MR. CHANDLER:  Mr. Engelberg, I think our view is that we have a quite transparent framework as it exists now in the market rules.


MR. ENGELBERG:  So then you anticipate no change, and, therefore, there is no funding to further establish such a structure?


MR. CHANDLER:  That's correct.  I wouldn't rule out the possibility of further development in that area.  It is always desirable to be more transparent, but I think it would take some time to understand precedents developing and give that appropriate consideration.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Is it possible that instead of developing its own process and framework, the IESO might use processes and frameworks established in other jurisdictions, such as NERC and NPCC?


MR. CHANDLER:  We are always interested in developments in other jurisdictions and whether they would work in Ontario.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Does the business plan of the IESO anticipate an increase from previous years in the level of compliance activities by the market assessment and compliance division?


MR. CHANDLER:  No, it doesn't.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Are there any reliability measures that are being introduced for 2007 that might have an impact or anticipated impact on market participants?


MR. TENCH:  I think, as we said earlier, we are not implementing specific reliability measures for the summer of 2007 beyond existing processes.  So I think the answer would be "no" to your question.  We will continue to use the existing processes.


MR. MILLAR:  I think we have some of the mikes that are inadvertently on.  Could I ask, if your green light is showing, that you press the button?  Thanks.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, gentlemen.  I have no further questions.


EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Mark Rodger for AMPCO.  

Just a couple of clarification matters around staffing that arose from your exchange from Mr. Millar, which we had some similar questions that we prefiled.


If you can go to page 42 of the business plan, please, and you will see that there is a chart and information at the bottom of that page 42 which indicates total regular staff levels, 2004 actuals all the way out to the end of the current plan before the Board, 2009.  


It shows, from 2006 to 2009, total regular staff levels of 422 employees.


Then if you go over to Exhibit B, schedule ‑‑ Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, this is IESO's compensation program's document.  If you go to page 2 of that document, maybe I could just take you through it and point out where we are having a little bit of trouble trying to follow the numbers.

Under the PWU compensation program, it talks about 59 employees; 56 permanent, three temporary.  

     Further down on page 2, it talks about the Society compensation program, and the Society represents some 298 employees; 275 permanent, 23 temporary.  

     Then over the page, page 3, it talks about the management group having some 81 employees; 79 permanent, two temporary.   

     When we add those up, we come with a total of 438 employees, as opposed to 422 that were referenced earlier; and that would be 410 employees permanent, 28 temporary.   

I am wondering if you could first help us clarify, what numbers are we really looking at for the plan period?  How can I make these numbers work?  

     MR. LEONARD:  Mr. Rodger, in reference to that document, I guess there were two numbers identified for each of the employee groups, that being the total staff complement and then the breakdown between regular and temporary.  

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MR. LEONARD:  What you are seeing in our business plan is our approved regular staff complement.  If you add those numbers up as at mid-September 2006 --  

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  

     MR. LEONARD:  I did the math quickly here.  It works, at least my math, to 420.  There is always going to be some minor overage or underage in terms of that.  

     For some of that, in terms of head counts, when you start to count a head count, in the compensation information you may have - I will give you an example - someone who goes on a maternity leave would be included as a regular head count.  Then we bring in a temporary to backfill for them, and all of a sudden now you have two head counts.  Clearly, in our business plan we only budget for one staff member.  

     MR. RODGER:  Going back to page 42 on the business plan, then, this projection of 422, that could be off a few employees above or below over the course of the plan?  

     MR. LEONARD:  That's correct.  

     MR. RODGER:  Just staying on staff levels -- this goes with the discussion about increase that you had with Mr. Millar.  If you go to page 41 of the business plan - and this is the OM&A program costs - you will see that staff costs, although projected to stay the same, or in terms of staff levels, but staff costs we see increasing 58.4 million projected 2006 to 61.5 million to the budget of 2007.  I think that was the 5.3 percent increase in overall compensation levels that Mr. Millar was referring to during his questions.  

     Now, it seems to us that that must be compensation across all of the staff on average to get to that increase.  I guess we are trying to square that with your comment about negotiating less than 3 percent on the collective agreements for this coming year.  So we just can't reconcile what is happening here.  

There seems to be this average 5.3 percent average increase.  How, then, do you get to this less than 3 percent agreement -- increase in the collective bargaining unit?  

     MR. LEONARD:  The increase you are referencing of 3.1 million, I think you have indicated the math works to 5.3 percent.  It is a function of multiple changes, one being compensation increases, which I believe in our evidence, and Mr. Van Veghel has talked to those being in the neighbourhood of 3 percent.  

The other material change in budgeting of staff costs is in respect of the -- we just had a conversation in terms of vacancies.  Historically, as a business, there is a particular level of vacancies that we would have carried through the course of the business.  One of the things we are going to be doing over our planning period is to better manage or better ensure we have a full staff complement on board to ensure that the staff are around to do the work and also to support us in ensuring we manage any attrition concerns over the planning horizon.  

The other is the amount of time that staff dedicate to capital initiatives versus operating initiatives.  So there is some difference in blend, and what you are seeing when you look at staff costs is time charged to the operating piece of the business 

     MR. RODGER:  I see.  When we look at the 2007 first year of the business plan, that increase of 3.1 million, or 5 percent, within that 5 percent is subsumed the 3 percent or less that you intend to negotiate in the collective agreement; is that correct?  

     MR. LEONARD:  That's correct.  

     MR. RODGER:  We also posed a question that was our question number 1 that Mr. Millar also asked similarly about.  

     This was, again staying with the compensation plan or program, the document we were just looking at, on page 4, and the statement that -- I will read from page 4:  

“The IESO will continue to gather market data and utilize median compensation levels as a guide in making compensation decisions.”  

     If you could stay on that document and go over to page 8.  Again, this is the chart Mr. Millar referred to, the market relativity for IESO actuals to market.  

     When you look at that lower chart, total compensation, am I right when I say the first three boxes of describing employees, the IESO relativity for management group, for Society-represented positions, and the third one, for PWU-represented positions, those three boxes represent about 91 percent of all the staff in the IESO?  Is that a fair ballpark?  

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  First of all, when you are saying “in the first two boxes,” you are talking about the top three lines in that chart?  

     MR. RODGER:  That's correct.  

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  The top three lines in terms of employees should represent all of the regular employees.  The top line, the management group, also includes the executives. 

     MR. RODGER:  So it is 100 percent? 

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  It is 100 percent, that's correct.  

     MR. RODGER:  As Mr. Millar also indicated, you are looking to the median and you are, on average, about 17 percent above that.  To AMPCO, that does seem significant.  Is it your policy to remain that high always above the median?  

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  No.  As we have tried to indicate in section 2, page 4 of this document, we are going to take a number of issues into account when making compensation decisions.  

Certainly relativity to the market is an important item, but it is one item and there are other factors, where in a collective bargaining type of framework we have pressures with respect to arbitrator's decisions.  We have need to make sure that we are attracting the kind of quality skill level that we need in our organization.  All of those factors come into play when decisions are made with respect to compensation levels.  

     MR. RODGER:  From that menu that you have described, just give us a flavour.  What are really the biggest ticket items?  What are the biggest triggers that have caused the 17 percent above median of the ones you have talked about?  

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  There are a variety of issues.  I am not sure I can isolate on any particular one of them, but certainly, wanting to make sure we have the skill levels that we need, needing to negotiate settlements with respect to the unions, arbitrators’ decisions, they are all important.  They all come into play.  

     MR. RODGER:  Is it the goal of the IESO, if I can term it this way, to attempt to drive to the median in terms of compensation levels to kind of get that number down?  

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, we do want to use it as a guide.  In terms of whether or not we want to get there at any particular point in time, I think it would depend on a variety of factors that would come into play.  

There are cost pressures in the engineering and IT field, for example, that are emanating from Alberta and other parts of Canada that are causing pressures on some of those kinds of skills and types of employees that we need.  

     We are wanting to make sure that we take all of those factors into account.  

MR. RODGER:  I guess what we are struggling with is when you look at the comparators for the organization, isn't everybody struggling with exactly the same issues?  Yet in your case, it is significantly above the median where really it is the same bundle of factors that other comparative organizations are also dealing with.


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  In terms of that, you are right; these types of pressures are similar pressures that a number of organizations are feeling.  We are wanting to make sure that we are attractive to the kinds of people that we need, and so forth.


However, in terms of that, one of the things that we have done in this latest round of bargaining, as I tried to explain earlier, is we have taken a position of looking at compensation increases which are below what is expected to occur within the economy generally, number one.  


We have taken a position in terms of pensions of altering the cost-sharing arrangement between the employee and employer.  We have taken the position of putting some limits and restrictions on some of those benefits, and it's the benefits area that -- in terms of escalation, that industry at large is seeing is the major component in terms of increases within their compensation portfolio.


So we have taken a very reasonable and responsible approach, in terms of that, and done that within a collective bargaining environment.


MR. RODGER:  Has the IESO board of directors ever given management any directive around this issue, that the number is too high above the median and your expectation is this would become closer to the median?


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, we sit down and we review, with the human resources and governance committee, the board issues on a regular basis, whether it is the compensation program for the subsequent year with respect to the management group or whether it is ‑‑ we are getting ready for bargaining, that kind of thing.  We regularly sit down and we review it.  


We review these relativities -- market relativities, along with other factors, internal relativities, the trends within the economy, that kind of thing, all as part of a package that are discussed with the board.  And decisions are made based on all of those factors.


MR. RODGER:  But has your board of directors ever given management a specific directive on this, that they are concerned about the levels and to basically do something about it to bring it in line with other comparative businesses?  


Are there anything formally -- formal come from the board on this issue?


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  I am not aware that there has been a specific formal request.


However, the board does, as I mentioned before, review the compensation programs and actually approves the compensation programs for the management group for the subsequent years.  It approves the decisions with respect to collective agreements that are negotiated, all of those factors, and it takes all of those items that I mentioned before into account when it makes those decisions.


MR. RODGER:  Just one other question on staff issues.  If you can go to page 42 of the business plan, the one we looked at before, showing the staff levels.  We asked this question.  It was our question 2 on our prefiled themes.  


It shows how staff groups are expected to decrease in size over the planned period, except for the corporate relations and market development group.  We see that group from 2005, actuals of 39, staff going up to 43 in 2009.


Also in your evidence, page 28 of the business plan, it talks about how the market evolution initiatives have fallen from seven in 2004 to five in 2005-2007.


So we are wondering, what is the reason for this increase in employees in this group when it seems like the initiatives are declining?


MR. LEONARD:  Sorry, Mr. Rodger, can you ‑‑ what was that second reference?  Page 28?


MR. RODGER:  Page 28.


MR. MILLAR:  Just to remind the panel, it appears your mike might be off.


MR. LEONARD:  I am having a hard time finding the ...


MR. RODGER:  I think we may have an incorrect reference for the reduction in the market evolution initiatives.  Just bear with me.  Why don't we try to take a look for that?  We will go on to another question and take a look for the reference to that.  


Does that sound correct to you, from what I am saying?  The market evolution initiatives seem to be reducing?


MR. LEONARD:  I guess I would agree ‑‑ I understand your question.  I don't necessarily agree that the market evolution initiatives are reducing.


I guess I would want to raise the fact that overall, as an organization, our head counts remain the same at 422.  So that increase that you are referencing in that one particular area of our business of two is being resourced within our existing staff complement.  That is a reflection of the ongoing reprioritization that we do within the IESO on an ongoing basis.


Within that particular area of the business, where we are seeing some pressures, one is in respect of participant information needs.  So in that area, we are increasing our attention to our website, and we heard that from our stakeholders, that improvements could be made.  


We have started to make some of those and the progress has been positive.  The feedback has been positive.  We continue to plan to make changes in that area.


Another area of the business that is driving an increased resource complement in that part of the IESO is in respect of market evolution analysis and research.  That is an area of the business where we are hearing from stakeholders abroad that when we undertake market evolution initiatives, you want a detailed and solid business case that doesn't just outline the costs to the IESO, but what the impact is to the marketplace, what the impact is to participants.


And so you are seeing that, in terms of resources being directed in that area.


What we are also seeing is the large infrastructure change in the province.  That is something that is starting to happen and been happening and is expected to happen over the coming years.  One of the things we have always been staffed to do is to perform that assessment from a system operability perspective or, What is the impact?  


What we are now being requested of is information in that regard on, What will the impact of all of this be on the market?


So, again, that is another area of market analysis that we expect we are going to have to do in the future.  The reason you are seeing increases in that area is the other areas of corporate relations and market development are continuing to see pressures in terms of large work volumes. 


One example of that would be in the regulatory arena, which falls into that business unit.  There is an area where the work effort, both within Ontario and abroad, is continuing at a very high pace.  So there wasn't the opportunity within that business unit to reprioritize such that they could absorb the increased workload.


MR. RODGER:  So part of that response ‑ that was very helpful ‑ is that when it comes to really any of the market evolution initiative that you are pursuing, that development of a business case and the cost benefit analysis, that will basically be standard IESO practice to pursue those types of analyses before you go ahead with any market evolution endeavour?


MR. LEONARD:  Mr. Rodger, I think the best response I can give would be maybe we defer that response until the next panel when Mr. Kozlik is on the stand.


MR. RODGER:  Fair enough.  The other ‑‑ the third question we had asked under operating costs had to do with benchmarking obligations of IESO and the data that you were working with FERC to formulate on behalf of a number of IESOs.  

     The reference in the prefiled exhibit is Exhibit B, tab 7, schedule 1.  This gives the results for FERC activities to date.  Again, you had some discussion with this with Mr. Millar.  

     What AMPCO's question is, is the way that the data is organized at this point.  Is that, in your view, the best way of organizing the data to compare IESOs, or have you considered another approach to assembling the data that might make it more comparable and provide with better benchmarking information?  

     I think the theme here that AMPCO wants to explore is the activities really seem to be organized by function.  What if, for example, you looked at what services were provided - for example, dispatch – and if there is a way you could organize the data around services, so we can get to a per unit price, depending on the service that it is; if we could use that as a way to compare IESOs and get more meaningful information from this assessment.  

     I guess we want to know, have you explored those kinds of things?  

     MR. LEONARD:  I am not sure exactly how you want me to respond to this, Mr. Rodger.  Do you want me to respond to your -- what were the exact questions?  

     MR. RODGER:  If we look at the first one, in your view is the best organization of the data for the purpose of comparing IESOs what you have spelled out in this exhibit that I have referenced? 

     MR. LEONARD:  I guess what I would say is prior to FERC coming up with their final ruling on uniform system of 

accounts, we did work with our counterparts that are part of the IESO RTO council to provide a submission to FERC,   

outlining what we thought would be useful, or at the time we thought would be useful, in breaking down the costs within the community.  What FERC has implemented is largely consistent with that. 

     At this time we do think that it is useful.  The judgment call on whether it is the best or not I believe is premature.  In any format of this type of exercise, until you start working with it, you won't realize where you could have done better, or where you can do better in the future.  

One factor that certainly comes to our mind in the assessment of "is this the best," one important factor is it's going to be available.  The availability of information was always a challenge in the past.  Certainly this format wasn't under our control.  We did have some level of influence, we believe, through the submission of the IRC to outline it, but is it the best?  We think it is a very good start.  It is premature to assess whether it is the best, though.  

     MR. RODGER:  I suppose the other side of that, though, is, is it fair to say, at least at this point you haven't ruled out that there may be another way to assemble and organize the data; that is something you will explore?  

     MR. LEONARD:  Certainly as part of our analysis we would be looking at the information that is included here and whether it meets our needs.  

     The impetus of this benchmarking or cost comparison initiative is, as much as participants want it, the IESO also wants it.  We want it to use, as any other business would, in our management of our business.  We want to find out areas where there may be opportunities for improvement.  We want to find out where we, as a business, are investing monies and perhaps outperforming others; and we believe it is important not just for us, but also for the stakeholder community to understand where we are making those investments so you as the consumer can make that determination.  

     MR. RODGER:  There was also some exchange earlier about a question of normalizations and what normalization should be used to permit comparisons.  Can you respond to that, of what IESO's view is to date on that issue of normalization?  We gave the suggestion in our question, for example, market volumes transacted might be one way to normalize the data.  What is your view on that?  

     MR. LEONARD:  I believe half of our view has been very public through these proceedings in multiple years.  When I say "half", we have been clear that we don't believe that assessing everyone relative to load levels or load volumes or energy transacted is the only way to measure.  

     We believe it may misguide people in many areas of the business, and that is why I indicate half -- we have talked about that in the past.  The other half is what are some of the things we believe.  

     We believe there is a number of different things we should be utilizing for factors.  If you were to dig into an area of settlements of a business, what is your role in settlements? What is your role in respect of settlements for metering?  I am no expert on metering, but I do know our role in metering, and I do know that others have varying degrees of involvement in reading meters.  

     That might be an impact in that area of the business. 

     The accuracy and timeliness of issuing settlement statements and actually settling the market in a final format might be a factor to assess in that area.

     There are many.  At this point we have yet to determine which ones are appropriate for which areas of the business.  That is something we plan to do as we gather closer or have a full year of information and we start to determine -- or and when we do determine the approach moving forward.  We have identified that we would like to work with our peers in the US and Alberta, and we will continue to have conversations with them to determine if we can move forward on a cost comparison initiative with them.  That may impact the format and nature of the report and the initial analysis.  If we move ahead on our own, that will also impact it.  And certainly we would have more control of that initial go-around.  

     We hear the concerns of AMPCO in this area.  We are committed to completing a comprehensive review and include it in our 2008 rate application, but scoping out the details of that analysis at this present time, we believe it to be slightly premature.  

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  Those are my questions on this first panel.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  Ms. DeMarco, are you next?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  I think the bulk of my questions, Michael, applied to the other two panels.  They pertain specifically to the market evolution program, so issues 2 and 3.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

     EXAMINATION BY MR. ANDERSON: 

MR. ANDERSON:  Colin Anderson, with Ontario Power Generation.  I just have a couple of questions, two of which are on issue number 1, and then a couple of questions on reliability, which is issue number 6.  I understand those are the appropriate issues for this panel.  

We did file some materials initially.  The questions I have today will be based on that filing.  

If I could turn your attention to the first question, the reference is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, and that is page 61.  This is the OM&A breakdown by business unit.  

The question that I have is particularly with reference to the MACD line item:  Does the IESO foresee any impacts resulting from the increased activity in the surveillance area?  That is in particular reference to the market surveillance panel as a proposed framework on identifying exercises of market power that was released late last year. 

     MR. CHANDLER:  Colin, it is early days to know what will unfold there.  That was a discussion paper, as you point out.  

The Panel wants to hear from stakeholders and decide what a final framework will be.  I guess I would add that their view essentially this is a more formal statement of  their existing approach to market power.  So not a big change. 

     MR. ANDERSON:  Is it fair to say based on the output of the stakeholdering exercise that is just being undertaken at this time.  And I appreciate that this line could change.  

     MR. CHANDLER:  It is possible, but the Panel's view is that they do not wish to intervene more extensively in the market as a result of this policy approach.  

     MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  

     My second question deals a little bit more generally with Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, in general, the financial statements, and they are found at appendix A in the business plan.


It relates to a posting on the IESO website on December 27th of last year that indicates that $57 million accumulated in the transmission rights clearing account would be disbursed to customers.  


I have a couple of questions on that, and it is probably my own shortcoming that I don't necessarily understand how that dovetails with the application before the Board right now.


Can you explain for me ‑‑ I do have an understanding of how the funds were accumulated, but can you tell me, please, where they are represented on the financial statements, how the IESO plans to disburse them, and what, if any, impact this has on the fees application before us?


MR. LEONARD:  Colin, the funds in respect of the transmission rights market, consistent with funds in respect of real-time markets, aren't included in the IESO's corporate financial statements.  They are outside of that. 


In the presentation of our corporate results, consistent with Canadian generally-accepted accounting principles, it wouldn't be appropriate to include them in our statements.


I guess what you are not seeing in our business plan is notes to our financial statement, and one of the significant accounting policies in respect of the statement identifies that market transactions do not form part of the IESO's corporate financial statements.


MR. ANDERSON:  So those accounts are held off somewhere else, in terms of the quantity and where they come from and how they are going to be disbursed?


MR. LEONARD:  Yes.


MR. ANDERSON:  And not within the corporate financial statements?


MR. LEONARD:  That's correct.


MR. ANDERSON:  Is there somewhere that they are available?


MR. LEONARD:  That might be better to defer until a later panel.  I mean, my understanding is all of the information is available at different spots within our website, but it is probably best to address that piece ...

     MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you for that.


MR. LEONARD:  Sorry, Colin, the one question you did have is:  Does this impact anything in this fee application?  It has no bearing or impact on the IESO's fee application.


MR. ANDERSON:  I appreciate that.  Thank you.  

Move now to issue number 6, reliability.  A number of the questions that we had prefiled were similar in nature to the questions already asked by Hydro One, so I will try to be brief just in seeking some confirmation of what I think I heard earlier on earlier on this morning.


The first question is:  Does the IESO foresee any increased activity over 2006 in the electrical reliability area for 2007 and beyond?  Specifically what I am looking for here is in the two areas of standards and compliance.


MR. TENCH:  In the domains you mentioned, and especially in the domain of standards development, I think we are all aware of the standards development going on around us through NERC and NPCC.  This has been an ongoing development.  It is not something that is a step‑change between 2006 and 2007.


So we see the relatively high intensity of this work continuing for a number of years, based on the business plans that have been put forward by NERC, primarily.  They intend to do this development over a number of years, and, therefore, that allows us, and, frankly, all of the participants, to manage their businesses over a number of years as these standards are further defined.  


We do view these ‑‑ these standards are not brand new and there is not a step change between 2006 and 2007.


MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  If we could focus now specifically on the Ontario-specific reliability standards, and, again, I know Hydro One touched on this this morning.


So, Mr. Tench, what I thought I heard this morning was that you do not have any specific areas, in terms of reliability, that you are planning on fleshing out currently with Ontario-specific standards, but obviously that could change depending on situations that change within the province.  Was that correct?  Was my understanding correct?


MR. TENCH:  Substantially.  Hydro One's ‑‑ or my response was that in the domain of NERC and NPCC standards, we did not see an immediate need to establish Ontario‑specific standards in those areas, but I wouldn't rule out that there are not reliability‑related rule changes that are necessary for the Ontario market.


Do you understand my distinction?


MR. ANDERSON:  Do you have a specific area that you are focussing on that that statement relates to?


MR. TENCH:  No.  I am just, I guess, referring back to history.  For example, the implementation of the day-ahead commitment process, which we viewed as a reliability‑related process, had market rules associated with it, and they were implemented.  I don't call those a standard, but they were reliability‑related rule requirements.


However, I don't ‑‑ in the domain of NERC and NPCC standards, I don't anticipate a need right now to establish an Ontario‑specific standard.


MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you for that.  The last question that I have for this panel again relates to reliability.  Based on the discussions that I heard earlier on, it is OPG's understanding that reliability -- new Ontario‑specific reliability standards would be affected via the market rule process.  Is that correct?  I believe, Mr. Chandler, you indicated that earlier.


MR. CHANDLER:  Yes.  I think in most, if not all, cases that would be true.


MR. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.


Is there additional stakeholdering planned regarding Ontario-specific reliability standards incremental to that market rule process?  

I guess what I am driving at here is, in advance of the market rule process being initiated, is there plans by the IESO to have some formal stakeholdering so that they can better utilize the industry experience that exists within Ontario to craft that market rule and to make sure that the reliability standard as drafted is appropriate? 


 MR. TENCH:  I will answer that.  The need for clear understanding and stakeholdering of these standards is important, and we recognize the importance.


We have established a working group whose primary function is to ensure a good understanding of these reliability standards, and that is an open stakeholder working group.  We urge anyone with an interest in this area to join.  Its primary focus will be to ensure a good understanding of these standards.


In addition, I would say that I view our current market rule development processes as being ‑‑ as having large elements of stakeholdering, as well, to the extent that it is necessary.  And where we ‑‑ if we were talking about a rule that had significant implications for participants, then I can assure you that that would be an element that would be stakeholdered through that process.


MR. ANDERSON:  Through the market rule process in addition to the working group that has been established?


MR. TENCH:  Yes, yes.


MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  I think that is all the questions that I have for this panel.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

Mr. Wightman, do you have any questions for the panel?


EXAMINATION BY MR. WIGHTMAN:  

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.  James Wightman for VECC.  I do.  Thank you very much, Mr. Millar.


I just want to thank Mr. Leonard especially for making himself available over the couple of weeks in the holiday season, for making information and clarifications available.  That was quite helpful.


For this panel, I have only a few questions left.  I think under issue 1, if I am not mistaken, between Mr. Millar and Mr. MacIntosh, you said that you didn't have discretion in the choice of a discount rate.  I believe it is an external actuary.  


I think then you provided information as to the variance due to the change in the discount rate, which would give me a sensitivity figure, which I had asked for; is that correct?


MR. LEONARD:  I hadn't provided the sensitivity on the discount rate.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Oh, well ‑‑


MR. LEONARD:  I gave you an indication of what it was when it moved.  I think it was 35 basis points.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.


MR. LEONARD:  A 1 percent increase in the discount rate would have reduced pension expense by roughly 6.1 million in 2006, and conversely, a one percent decrease would have reduced pension expense by roughly 6.6 million.  

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay, great.  

     Lastly on that issue, then, you mentioned that there was one other driver of this variance, and I think that was your returns on your pension assets.  

     MR. LEONARD:  That's correct.  

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  The last one -- and I recognize that there has been quite a bit of discussion about staff costs and compensation levels, but I think of it’s kind of like a car.  You can say whether your car is safe or not.  You need a lot of things working together.  But if your oil pressure drops below a certain point, or whatever, you are worried about that as it is; never mind if the suspension is good and everything else.  

     My question was this:  When we look at these results of these compensation surveys or studies done by Perrin Towers and that, what would grab your attention and say, holy cow, we are way too low or we are way too high.  Do you have some kind of idea?  

     Let me give you the context for this.  I used to teach a bunch of courses, and they had a standard grade profile.  If you had a certain amount in As, A pluses, and all of this, and if you varied from it, and there were ranges, you had to give an explanation.  So my point is this:  Can you imagine what would be something that you just say, that 

is not a compensation profile we can live with?  It is too high, or it's too low, or whatever.  Just looking at that, because you have mentioned there are a bunch of factors, but can we even tell if there is a warning or some problem by looking at these numbers?  

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  In terms of making compensation decisions, as I have stated before, there are a number of factors that you want to take into account, and that the Board does take into account when it makes decisions.  Certainly there are some elements which are more easily quantified than others, and there are a number of elements that you want to make sure that you have information on.  Market relativity is important, internal relativity, overall costs, are you getting the skills and competencies needs that you need for the future.  What does the outlook for the economic trend over the next few years look like?  All of those things are very important in making those decisions.  

     To say one or others are more important than another I think would have to be done within the context of a certain decision that has to be made.  

     All of those things get factored in, and that is what we try to reflect in our response within the Exhibit 3 here of the evidence.  

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  If I go to an extreme, if you were above the 99th percentile in all groups, would that cause any alarm bells to go off?  

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, it is certainly a cause for concern, but whether or not you make a change depends on whether or not you are able to get, for example, the kinds of people that you are looking at out there.  

     Are the skills levels available?  There are a lot of factors that need to be considered.  

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.  That is fine, I have your answer.  I just thought one of the points of getting a comparator group was to try and get sort of equivalent kind of skill sets and kind of responsibilities.  I was just wondering whatever guidance you could give me of how do I treat these numbers.  

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Certainly when we carry out the studies, we do look at comparable skills and talent, that kind of thing, because that is important in terms of, you know, we are looking at attraction, retention, that kind of thing with respect to our employees, or skill levels, and so on.  

     We also are very careful to try to match in terms of level of job, so that we are comparing evenly across.  All of those factors obviously we try to take into account so that we are looking at those resources that have the skills and capabilities that we are looking for for the future, either in terms of attracting or retaining them.  

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  One last thing on this point.  I don't think there is any information about what -- we have comparatives to medians and 75th percentiles, but we don't have anything about what averages are or the distribution of the comparator groups, do we?  I am not asking for that.  I wouldn't surprise you with that, but there isn't anything on that?

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  In terms of the report that Towers Perrin have provided to us, they haven't given that in the final report.  

     I am sure that they do have those kinds of calculations back in their offices, and could make them available to us if we were looking for them, but from the point of view of the decisions we are making, the information with respect to median and 75th serves our needs.  

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Yes.  That is good enough.  

     Now, I just have one more or two more little subquestions.  I put these in at the end of VECC's submission, and I called it:  "General in respect of appropriateness of fees."  

     At the Issues Conference, I mentioned that this was a fees submission and there was nothing about are the fees appropriate.  I believe I wasn't told that, well, look, we have revenues, we have costs, we have all of this stuff.  

     I would just like you to confirm my understanding that 

the variances between the forecast usage revenues and the actual revenues are due to the difficulties in forecasting exports.  Is my understanding correct on that?  

     MR. LEONARD:  I guess, James, I would refer you to page 28 of our business plan, which does identify the principal driver for the difference in revenues for 2006 is in respect of export levels.  

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Hmm-hmm.  

     MR. LEONARD:  As outlined in the footnote on that page, the IESO doesn't -- we don't forecast export levels.  Rather, for budgeting purposes we utilize a historical rolling average.  Yes, there has been a difference between the actual in 2006 and that rolling average.  

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  I wonder if it would be possible if you could - and hopefully it is not too hard - provide the load forecast and the calculation to show how you go from your revenue requirement to your proposed fee.  

     MR. LEONARD:  I would refer you to page 56 and page 57 of the business plan.  

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  I apologize for that.  Thank you very much.  

Those are all of my questions for this Panel.  Thank you.  

     EXAMINATION BY MR. LONG: 

     MR. LONG:  My name is Richard Long.  I have a couple of questions arising from Mr. Rodger's and Mr. White's questions.  Most of our questions were covered off by Board Staff questions earlier. 

     Where are all or most of your employees located?  What 

geographic area?  

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  At a facility called our Clarkson facility in Mississauga.  

     MR. LONG:  As a result, are you competing for employees primarily in the Greater Toronto area?  

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That would depend on the level of talent that we are looking for.  Some, yes.  Others, we would be looking across Canada and even beyond for some of the talent, and we have gone beyond Canada for some of our talent.  

     MR. LONG:  That might explain the above median wage payments actually, trying to attract people from an expensive GTA area, or even beyond Ontario, for instance?  

     MR. VAN VEGHEL:  In some cases it might.  Obviously there are different expectations that different people in different circumstances have with respect to the compensation that they are willing to move for.  

     MR. LONG:  Thank you.  The second question, and the last one is -- deals with the Towers Perrin on appendix A and pages 10 and 11.  The question is:  What is the reason for using different comparator companies when you are comparing executive pay versus professional and supervisory pay?


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, first of all, you will note that there is an awful lot of overlap in firms, that we do look at some of the firms for different comparator groups, but others ‑‑ what we have tried to do is we have tried to align the groups as closely as possible with the kind of talent ‑‑ with the kind of organizations that would be ‑‑ that would have the same kind of talent, skills, and so forth as we would have.


So there has been that alignment done to try to look at comparator groups that have, for example, the kinds of skills and so forth that our executive people do and also the kinds of skills our professional and supervisory groups would need.


MR. LONG:  I guess the one that stands out for me in the executive comparator group is Bruce Power.  Bruce Power doesn't appear on the professional and supervisory comparator.  

On page 11, I guess the one that stands out for me is Newfoundland and Labrador, which seems to be a far distance away in terms of comparators, given that you compete in a certain labour market, as we discussed earlier, Ontario, maybe beyond Canada and different countries.  


So the selection of these, who selected these companies?  How do you arrive at that selection?


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Okay, we do select those in conjunction with Towers Perrin, and Towers Perrin have expressed their views in terms of comparator groups, and so on.


In some cases, though - and, for example, Bruce Power is one - where Towers Perrin have the information, for example, relating to their executives in their database, they do not have it with respect to some of the other groups.  And in terms of pursuing it with them, they were not ‑‑ they decided they did not want to participate.


So, I mean, in some cases, there is some practical real‑life issues, in terms of gathering some of this data, and it depends on participation from other companies.


MR. LONG:  Not to belabour this, but why wouldn't that have been included in the Society when ‑‑ given the nature of the representation at Bruce Power?  Why wouldn't Bruce Power have appeared, for instance, in the supervisory and professional group?


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  As I tried to explain, I don't believe that Bruce Power were part of the data bank that Towers Perrin had.


MR. LONG:  Oh, for this ‑‑


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  For the Society-type of ‑‑


MR. LONG:  Sorry, I misunderstood you.


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  In terms of pursuing it with them, they chose not to participate.


MR. LONG:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


EXAMINATION BY MR. STEPHENSON:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.


Just a few questions, actually more by way of follow-up from some of the questions this morning.


The first thing I just wanted to deal with, in terms of the staff costs which appear at page 30 of the business plan, I think we can derive sort of the relevant ‑‑ relative complement of your overall workforce from the material that you filed, which tells us, for example, the PWU staff is roughly 59 people out of your total complement of 422.


I guess the question I have for you is:  I just did the math on all of that.  If the PWU is at 59 out of 422, that's 13 percent of your total head count.  I take it that it would be the ‑‑ the PWU-represented staff would be something less than 13 percent of your total staff costs - would that make sense? - because they are going to be, on average, the lowest paid people in your staff.


MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  In terms of the pension costs, as well, if I turn to that, you would be at least notionally able to disaggregate your total pension costs as between people that were part of your PWU workforce, the Society workforce and your management workforce; right?  I assume you could do that at least notionally.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LEONARD:  The answer would be "yes", recognizing that you did use the term "notional".  We don't track it individually by representation or non‑representation.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And assuming you did that, I am assuming, again, out of your total pension costs, if you were going to allocate it in this way, by representation, whether it is PWU, Society, or management, you would anticipate that the PWU share of the total pension costs would be something south of 13 percent, again, because they are the lowest paid group amongst ‑‑ historically amongst your workforce?


MR. LEONARD:  The 13 percent is -- again, you are referencing 13 percent as your head count?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.


MR. LEONARD:  I guess I would say -- if I could have a moment?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Sure.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LEONARD:  Certainly for current service cost, which is that pension cost associated with active employees, that would be true.


What we don't know right now or have before us is the population of retired employees.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I am going to get to that in a minute.  That's fair.  

I do want to talk ‑‑ there was some discussion this morning about defined contribution and defined benefit plans, and there was some discussion about this last year, I remember.


You have indicated that there is an intention or a commitment to discuss this issue with, I think, your ‑‑ the bargaining agents in ‑‑ at a point in time in the future.


The question I had for you about this was:  Do you have, at this point in time, any preconceived notion as to whether a defined contribution pension scheme would likely be more or less costly for the company overall?


MR. LEONARD:  No, the IESO doesn't have a preconceived notion that one might be less expensive than the other.  Certainly the inferences in some of the questions today would lead one ‑‑ may lead one to that conclusion, that defined contributions by their very nature are less expensive.  They aren't.  


It depends on the structure of that, just like it depends on the structure of defined benefit plans.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Can you just assist us as to what factors or variables might lead a defined contribution plan to be, relatively speaking, more or less expensive than a defined benefit plan?


MR. LEONARD:  Sorry, if you could repeat that?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  You have indicated that it is not necessarily the case that defined contribution would be less expensive.  It could be more expensive.  I am just wondering, what kinds of factors would affect the relative costs of those two plan structures? 


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Plan design overall would be a big component.  What does the defined contribution plan look like, in terms of contributions by the employee, by the company into the plan?  There is administration, for example.  That becomes a significant component of the defined contribution program, because the employer would need to set up significant different financial arrangements that people could choose or could select from, and would have to make sure that there are very good communications and awareness type of tools in place; those kinds of things.  


As well, if the company, like the IESO, were to undertake and move towards a defined contribution program, what we would be into would be a situation where we would have to operate both the defined contribution and the defined benefit program, because under the Pension Benefits Act, for example, we cannot take away benefits that have accrued to individuals under the current programs, and so we would be sitting there having to operate multiple plans.  So, there is additional administration, additional burden, et cetera, as well as the administration of the defined contribution program.  


And there is the issue of what does the design of the program look like to begin with.  


MR. LEONARD:  If I might add -- Mr. Stephenson, I think it is?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  


MR. LEONARD:  Mr. Van Veghel really spoke to the defined contribution side.  When making that comparison, you also have to remember you are comparing against something, and that is the defined benefit side, and some of the largest impacts you will see in that regard, aside from your structure, is your return on your assets that you earn over the long term of those plan assets, and also the discount rate over the long-term.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  That is the next point I was going to get to, was that in the last, say, five or so years, by virtue of declining long-term interest rates, you have had to, I take it, increase your contributions to your defined benefit plan.  That historically hasn't always been the case, and that there has been a period of time, by virtue of the underlying actuarial reality, that plans have been in surplus, and you have been able to not make contributions from time to time.


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Yes, that's correct. 


MR. LEONARD:  That's correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  In those cases the ratepayer will benefit because your costs may be very low or nil.  


MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's correct.  In fact, I believe it was either 1999 or 2000 for the IESO where we actually had pension income in the neighbourhood of $4 million.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Then the last item, which is just to understand how much is at stake here in terms of -- or how much is in play on the pension cost line item.  You have mentioned that your ability to implement changes is limited as a matter of law vis-à-vis at least some of your folks.  


I take it that, although you are relatively new organization, you actually have a fairly large number of retirees; is that right? 


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  We have approximately a little over 200 retirees in part of our plan. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  That is when you have an active staff of just north of 400?

MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Just north of 400.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it that part of that is simply as a matter of law you inherited a bunch of those folks as a result of the creation of the IESO out of the old Ontario Hydro?  


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  That's correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Have you got any practical ability to meaningfully affect the pension plan structure vis-à-vis retirees?  


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Very limited.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  If you can't affect the structure, I take it you can't necessarily impact on the cost either?  


MR. VAN VEGHEL:  Well, we certainly can't impact on the cost of pensioners, and then there are even the active employees in terms of their past service benefits that they have accrued.  We cannot simply have those converted to defined contribution or other alternatives, either.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Am I right that in terms of your total pension costs - I have forgotten what the number is in 2007, but whatever it is - some significant chunk of that number is not meaningfully within your control as a matter of law?  


You are stuck with that number as a matter of law.  Even if you wanted to change it, you couldn't.  Is that fair?  


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. LEONARD:  Yes, that's fair, although I wouldn't want to characterize it that we have absolutely no control.  One part of the equation is investment returns -- not that we are going are going to move markets, but...


[Laughter]  


MR. STEPHENSON:  You could invest in natural gas futures, I suppose, but there are -- I assume you manage those things as prudently as you can under all circumstances anyway. 


MR. LEONARD:  Yes.  Responsibly.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.  


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Is there anything else for Panel 1? 


It is about ten after 12 now.  It might make sense to take our lunch break.  Unless there are any objections, I would like to come back at one o'clock.  We still have two panels to go through, and I would like to finish them today, if at all possible.  Is there anyone that can't come back for one o'clock?  


Okay.  We will see you at one.  Thank you.  

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:10 p.m.

‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:00 p.m.


MR. MILLAR:  I think we will get started again, if everyone is ready.  It is one o'clock, I see.  

Just a quick opening announcement.  Some of you may not have known the drinks and the coffee are if you turn on the right as you leave this room.  I understand the coffee machine is being refreshed.  It may already have been, but you will certainly have fresh coffee by the break, if you are interested.


I understand that the IESO is going to combine the final two panels in an attempt to expedite matters.  I certainly don't have any problems with that.  I don't imagine anyone else does.


Glenn, do you have anything you would like to say, or can we just get started with the questions?


MR. ZACHER:  I think we can just get started.  Unless anybody has any objection, we just thought adding one more witness to the second panel -- so hopefully it will help us get through things this afternoon.


MR. LONG:  Is your mike on?


MR. ZACHER:  Hear me better?


MR. LONG:  Yes, thanks.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I think we will start at our end, unless there is any objection.  Mr. Caputo will read the rest of our questions and get the answers, and then I guess we will move around the room again.


PANEL 2 AND 3:  

Ted Leonard; Don Tench; Ken Kozlik


EXAMINATION BY MR. CAPUTO:

MR. CAPUTO:  This sets of questions deals with capital spending.  The reference is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, which is the IESO's 2007 to 2009 business plan, on pages 34, 48 and 49.


Now, the evidence indicates that the day-ahead commitment process, or DACP for short, was implemented in 2006 at a projected cost of $2.7 million.


The table on page 49 shows capital expenditures for day-ahead market development were -- or are expected to be $8 million in 2007 and $8 million in 2008.


Page 48 also states that if the project timing deliverables or costs are different than the $16 million assumption and it is evenly split between 2007 and 2008, then some of the resourcing for other capital initiatives might move ahead or be deferred.


Board Staff would like to get a better understanding, an update, on the process for development and implementation of the day-ahead market and the expected total costs.


The first question related to that is:  Will the DACP implemented in 2006 be used in 2007 to 2009 prior to and after the implementation of the day-ahead market?


If not, are the facilities and systems developed for DACP usable for day-ahead market or other purposes?


MR. KOZLIK:  The DACP was reviewed in the fall of this year by the IESO board in regards to its use after November of 2006, which was the time at which it had to be decided by the board whether or not it would continue.  


The board has decided to continue with the operation of DACP until such time as some other market mechanism is able to replace it with at least the same reliability benefits.  


So, first of all, to answer your question regarding DACP, yes, it is going to be operated in 2007, and it will likely be operated in 2008 until such time as the outcome of the DAM initiative is able to be put in service.


There was also an annual review that would go on with DACP that the Board will receive regarding its operation.


MR. CAPUTO:  All right.


MR. KOZLIK:  I believe you then asked whether or not the DACP could be used as portions of the day-ahead market design?


MR. CAPUTO:  Yes.


MR. KOZLIK:  At this point in time, we don't know what the day-ahead market design is going to be.  We have just yesterday published a new stakeholder plan to investigate the day-ahead market that is appropriate for Ontario.


There is an aspect of day-ahead markets that clearly is there to coordinate the use of resources one day in advance of operation, which is what DACP does, as well.  But the programs could potentially be significantly different.


If they are different, then the DACP functionality will not be able to be used in DAM.  If in fact they turn out to be quite similar, then we will make use of the DACP processes, manuals and systems, to whatever extent we can, to build the day-ahead market.


MR. CAPUTO:  So at least part of the 2.7 million that was spent on DACP might be usable in the future?


MR. KOZLIK:  It might be.


MR. CAPUTO:  Thank you.  

The next request is:  Please provide a breakdown of the proposed $8 million expenditure in 2007 and 8 million in 2008 for day‑ahead market using an appropriate breakdown, such as materials, labour, overhead and testing, and also indicate the timing of the expenditures.


MR. KOZLIK:  As I said in my previous answer, the design of the day‑ahead market that we are going to use is unknown right now and is going to be an outcome of the stakeholder plan that we published yesterday.


For the purposes of our business plan, we did assume a placeholder design for the sake of being able to provide some estimates of the cost of day‑ahead market.  That stakeholder design that we have assumed is what I would refer to as a middle-of-the-road solution.  It is one that draws from aspects of neighbouring day‑ahead markets and from the experiences that they have in coordinating the operation of their resources, given their resource mix, and it is one that does give an opportunity to participants to be able to strike financial hedges against the real-time price, which is a function normally attributed to a day‑ahead market.


We have estimated that that sort of design would cost in the neighbourhood of $16 million.  We did not estimate that price based on estimating materials, labour, and those sorts of things, but we did look at the sorts of systems that the IESO operates that would have to be modified in order to be able to implement this placeholder design for the DAM.


We did this through conversations with IESO staff in the IT area, with IESO staff that were involved in the creation of the DACP in the past, with IESO staff that were involved in the day‑ahead market design efforts that existed in 2003 and 2004.  As such, for that placeholder design, we believe it is a reasonable estimate.


MR. CAPUTO:  What sort of accuracy would you say ‑‑


MR. KOZLIK:  I have a difficult time saying the accuracy at this point for that particular design.  As I say, this was a judgment.  It says “16.”  It could be less.  It could be more.  But I think that that is a reasonable assessment at this point.


MR. CAPUTO:  Which leads to my next question:  Is that the total cost of DAM, or is there something beyond that?  Because we are showing 2007 and 2008.


MR. KOZLIK:  That would be the total capital costs that we are estimating for DAM.  There would be ongoing operation of DAM after it was placed in service, either for the remainder of 2008 or ongoing into 2009 and 2010, but we don't see that those additional operating expenses for DAM would be incremental to the sorts of activities that we already do today.


MR. CAPUTO:  Actually, that was my next question, what the annual maintenance and operating costs are.  You indicated they are quite low.  Do you have a value for that?


MR. KOZLIK:  Well, rather than saying they are quite low, I expect that there will be new processes that staff will be doing that replace old processes.  I expect the scope of them would be relatively the same.


MR. CAPUTO:  Now, since it says in the evidence that approval from the IESO board won't happen until, I believe, some time this summer, does the IESO have the necessary authorization for DAM development work that has to take place between now and then, or does anything have to take place between now and then? 

MR. KOZLIK: What I refer to as DAM development work will only take place after there has been an approval by the IESO board of the high-level design of the day-ahead market, which is an outcome of the stakeholder plan.  


The efforts that we will be put forward in conducting the stakeholder plan and defining the high-level design and stakeholdering, that with participants would be handled through our normal operation and maintenance budget within the area that I run.  


MR. CAPUTO:  So there are activities required between now and the time of the Board approval?  


MR. KOZLIK:  Certainly.  Those would be all the activities associated with the stakeholder plan that we laid out and announced yesterday.  


MR. CAPUTO:  None of that requires specific other approvals?  


MR. KOZLIK:  No.  This has been approved as part of our business plan as an effort we are going forward with.  


MR. CAPUTO:  Thank you.  Are we moving on to co-ordination?  


The next item is co-ordination of IESO's activities with OPA and OEB.  


There are two references for this:  Reference number 1 is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1; again the IESO's 2007 to 2009 business plan on page 1, and reference 2 is the same document, page 21.  


Now, in reference 1, it is stated that the IESO will ensure that its activities are co-ordinated with the OPA, where appropriate, to achieve efficiencies in the provision of service.  In reference 2 it is stated that the IESO's direct and indirect support of the OPA's IPSP is expected to span at some level the whole of the business plan, plan period and beyond; initially through technical support for plan development and stakeholdering, and subsequently for regulatory review at the OEB, with resulting plan modification.  


The Board would like to explore whether there are overlaps between the IESO and the OPA responsibilities, and whether there are opportunities for further efficiency improvements.  


My first question regarding that is:  What, in the IESO's opinion, are the areas in which overlap between the IESO and the OPA responsibilities may exist; and B, the areas in which the roles and responsibilities of the two parties are undefined or unclear.  


MR. TENCH:  Could you repeat the first question for me again?  


MR. CAPUTO:  What in the IESO's opinion are the areas in which overlap of OEB and OPA responsibilities may exist?  


MR. TENCH:  We believe there are no areas overlap or duplication.  


MR. CAPUTO:  And the second part of that question?  


MR. TENCH:  Sorry, what was the second part?  


MR. CAPUTO:  The second part is what in the IESO's opinion are the areas in which the roles and responsibilities of the two parties are undefined or unclear.


MR. TENCH:  The reason I guess I could state with some certainty that there was no duplication or overlap is that in 2005 we implemented a memorandum of understanding with the OPA, and I believe it is in one of the tabs of the exhibits.  


MR. ZACHER:  I don't think it is.  The master service agreement is included in the evidence, but I believe the memorandum of understanding has been filed in the past.  


MR. TENCH:  Yes, that's correct.  But we did file the master services agreement which was executed between the two companies in April of 2006.  


The MOU and the agreement we put in place there were specifically intended to address both the company's concerns that we make sure that effective coordination take place, and throughout 2006 -- or once the understanding and once the agreement was in place, 2006 was more a year of implementing and making that coordination effective.  


I guess that is why I feel that I can answer your question clearly.  We have a number of areas that we can go into to explain where that co-ordination takes place, but given the clear set of objects for each of the two companies, I don't believe there is the lack of clarity in any of the work that we are doing.  


MR. CAPUTO:  All right.  


MR. TENCH:  Certainly there is a need for co-ordination, though.  


MR. CAPUTO:  Thank you.  The next question is, for the IPSP initiative, please provide a brief description of the OPA's responsibilities and goals of the IESO.  Just a brief overall description.  


MR. TENCH:  Maybe I can ask you to turn to that Master Services Agreement as an example.  It is tab 8, the second page of that agreement.  The first "whereas” in the agreement, where it talks about the objects of the IESO and the OPA, I think it lays out at a high level the obligations of the OPA and IESO.  

You will see there the role of the OPA:  it is responsible for the developments of an integrated power system plan, recommending options for a new power system investment, and when necessary, procuring new sources of supply, conservation or demand management.  


In a nutshell, I think that is a reasonable summary of what the integrated plan objectives are for the OPA.  


Up above that is the IESO's role; responsible for

reliable operation of the integrated power system and for operating and settling the wholesale electricity markets.  


Again, at a high level, those are the IESO's functions, without looking at its detailed objects.  


We do recognize, and the memorandum of understanding recognizes, that some of the work that the OPA needs to perform to create the integrated power system plan relies on skills that the IESO has for its purposes.  As a means of co-ordinating that effort, for example, the IESO has undertaken some of the work for the OPA in the domain of, or in the areas of resource adequacy and transmission assessment, so it has an example of coordinating the work effort.  That was undertaken on a cost recovery basis.  


To answer your question, I see the work of the OPA and the IESO as distinct when it comes to the integrated plan.  The OPA clearly has the responsibility to develop the plan and its procurements.  


MR. CAPUTO:  With respect to the IPSP initiative, though, can you be a little more specific with respect to what the IESO's functions are in the IPSP initiative? 


MR. TENCH:  Well, going back to ... let's see.  


At a high level there are several areas of work that the IESO undertakes with respect to the IPSP, or its work programs are affected by the IPSP.  The first area could be a direct support to the development of the IPSP, as I mentioned.  In a couple of areas, we had the expertise to do the work, and it made sense from a coordination perspective, and we did the work.  So that is kind of a direct support to the IPSP.  


A second area is associated with work within the roles and accountabilities of the IESO, as I described earlier, as well.  So, for example, the connection assessment of proposed new transmission facilities, I anticipate, and certainly we have been seeing an increase in the number of transmission projects, as an example, or generation projects coming up in advance of the IPSP, and I expect that to continue once the plan is defined.


So I anticipate that the IESO will be fulfilling its role by performing its -- you know, its normal services to the marketplace in assessing those and providing the approvals for those, as an example.


And I guess the third area would be recognizing that this is a very significant regulatory undertaking for the OPA and it is very important -- the outcome is very important to the IESO.  We will be participating in the IPSP hearing as the plan is taken forward.


MR. CAPUTO:  Okay.  Well, thanks for the explanation.


The next question is:  What are the IESO's estimated costs for IPSP involvement over the business plan term?


MR. TENCH:  Excuse me.  It is a very rough estimate for purposes of business planning.  In those ‑‑ and I mentioned three areas of work effort a minute ago.  One was our direct support that is done on a cost-recovery basis; the second is work within our -- or provision of service within our accountabilities; and the third is the support to the hearing and the ‑‑ getting approvals process and so on.  


I am only talking about the last part of this when I identify the ‑‑ our plan support.  It is estimated to be about three FTEs, full-time equivalents.


MR. CAPUTO:  Can you give us a dollar figure for that?


MR. TENCH:  How would we convert that?  3- to $400,000.  


MR. CAPUTO:  Is that for all three years, or per year?


MR. TENCH:  Well, I think for the purposes here, it is a very rough number, so I would say per year, probably.


MR. CAPUTO:  Per year?


MR. TENCH:  Yes.


MR. ZACHER:  Just to be clear, I am not sure we are talking about the same thing.  You are talking about three full-time employees to support just the regulatory support aspect, or are you talking about the other support, other direct support, as well?


MR. TENCH:  Well, it is a very rough -- let's see.


One second, please.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. TENCH:  Thanks.  It is ‑‑ those costs are primarily associated with supporting the plan as it goes forward.  So it depends on the time frame that the plan is before the ‑‑ is being approved -- in the approval process and development.


So these are the ‑‑ it likely is primarily 2007, but I am not sure at what point the plan will be approved.  So it may continue past 2007.


MR. CAPUTO:  So you are saying that 3- to 400,000 roughly to be spent in 2007?


MR. TENCH:  This is not just regulatory.  This is not just the regulatory undertaking, but it is the ‑‑ because this is an important initiative for us, as well, it is the work that goes into ensuring that we have a successful plan going forward.


MR. CAPUTO:  So if this is just for the support of the plan, there are other components to it, then, that aren't included in the 3- to 400,000?


MR. TENCH:  Those are components of our regular business.  I wouldn't call them ‑‑ I wouldn't call them elements of the integrated plan.  They are part of our operation of the power system, a part of our other duties.


MR. CAPUTO:  All right.  Well, thanks for that.  

My last question, you might already have answered it partly, at least:  In the IESO's opinion, what opportunities exist to achieve greater efficiency and coordination activities between the IESO and OPA?


MR. TENCH:  We are always on the lookout for that.  Our experience is that the opportunities for coordination arise when both businesses are well aware of the activities that are being undertaken.  


And to that end, we ensured that there have been board meetings, joint board meetings of the OPA and the IESO boards.  There are regular management meetings between the two companies, as well, and the opportunities for coordination really come out of an understanding of the activities that each company is undertaking, and we have seen, in many areas, beneficial coordination.


One area we haven't talked very much about is the coordination on some of the market evolution activities, as well.  Do you want to say anything about those?


MR. KOZLIK:  The coordination of the market evolution activities aren't related to overlaps.  They are to ensure that there is an understanding of each company's perspectives on market evolution and where the market is and hopefully will evolve to.  And those conversations have happened, as well.


And they are used for each of us separately to pursue the initiatives that are in our responsible areas.


MR. CAPUTO:  Well, thanks for that, and that is all of the questions that Board Staff has for this panel.


MR. MILLAR:  We are done.  

David?


EXAMINATION BY MR. MACINTOSH:

MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.


First, I should have mentioned first thing this morning that Energy Probe wishes to compliment the IESO on the clear presentation of this evidence.  


Now I want you to disregard that, because I wouldn't want to influence you now that I am going to talk about financing of stakeholdering.


[Laughter]


MR. MACINTOSH:  Our question on stakeholdering, the reference is Exhibit B, tab 4, schedule 1, the top of page 7.


The evidence beginning at the top of page 7 indicates that the IESO has not met its obligation under the 2006 settlement agreement in the matter of funding for the IESO stakeholdering process.


The settlement agreement advised of IESO's management plans to bring forward a proposal for pilot program for intervenor funding for IESO stakeholdering processes.


So my first question is:  Would you inform the Board as to the reasons why IESO management is not in compliance with the 2006 settlement agreement in the subsequent board decision?


 MR. KOZLIK:  Our intent was to use this pilot program to be able to enable stakeholders, who normally would not be able to attend IESO stakeholder events, to be involved in market evolution initiative discussions.


We had specifically thought that that would be around the day‑ahead market initiative. 

We published our stakeholder plan in September with expectations we would be initiating that work in the fall and that we would be rolling this pilot out for that purpose.  As a result of prioritization on other initiatives, we were unable to start the DAM stakeholder plan, and we have since put out the revised stakeholder plan yesterday.  In that stakeholder plan, we have explicitly addressed the issue of participant funding.  


There is a section in that stakeholder plan.  Given that it was only made available yesterday, I could read that section, if you would like.  


MR. MACINTOSH:  No, I have read it, that's fine.  Thank you.  


MR. KOZLIK:  Okay, thank you.  


MR. ZACHER:  Mr. MacIntosh, just to clarify, it is our position that we have complied with the undertaking that we have brought forward the proposal.  


MR. MACINTOSH:  Of course.  I guess, then, you have answered the B section of my question, because your pilot program is your stakeholder engagement plan, SA 21, that was filed yesterday.  Am I correct in that?  


MR. ZACHER:  Yes.  


MR. MACINTOSH:  My final question is we would like you to provide justification for why you require a pilot program for stakeholdering for intervenor funding.  


MR. KOZLIK:  The IESO considers the definition of who our stakeholders are to be very broad.  We consider, of course, the market participants and those that are directly participating in the market, but also effectively all power consumers of the province, in that market prices affect all power consumers, and in that it is possible that the provision of market prices one day in advance could also be used by a broad cross-section of power consumers.  


The small consumers have not been able to attend IESO stakeholder events in the past.  We have made the information available and we have not had them present.  We have had indications that some of the reasons they are not present is because of the costs associated with attending IESO stakeholder events.  That was the rationale for the project, or the pilot.  


MR. MACINTOSH:  I understand that.  Usually when somebody runs a pilot program it is to see if what they are doing is a good idea or not.  


In this case, given your objectives of transparency, we were curious as to why you required a pilot project for intervenor funding.  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. KOZLIK:  Our stakeholder engagement process is a new one to us.  We initiated it in late 2005, and have been gaining experience and learning from all of our stakeholder initiatives as they go along.  We felt we understood the need, but we did feel that it was appropriate to explore that through a pilot to see whether or not that pilot could accomplish the goals.  


MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.  Those are our questions. 


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  


Michael, are you next?  


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  


EXAMINATION BY MR. ENGELBERG:


MR. ENGELBERG:  Regarding the day-ahead market, does the IESO plan to perform a cost benefit evaluation of the day-ahead market prior to proceeding with the pilot, or with the program at all?  


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, we do.  We would be presenting a business case, a component of which would be a cost benefit analysis, and we would be making that available to stakeholders, and specifically to the Stakeholder Advisory Committee prior to it proceeding to the IESO board for their consideration.  


MR. ENGELBERG:  How do you plan to perform that cost benefit evaluation?  


MR. KOZLIK:  We have a new function created in the IESO referred to as market evolution analysis and research.  I think people have talked about it as MEAR.  This is a function which is looking at economic impacts of possible market evolution initiatives, changes in industry structure, changes in the equipment in the market, and is looking at economic efficiency impacts.  We will be looking to that group to produce this cost benefit analysis consistent with good practice in conducting cost benefit analyses.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Have you embarked on that already, or when do you plan to begin?  


MR. KOZLIK:  The MEAR function is starting in January, and so it will be working towards a cost benefit analysis of the day-ahead market as the stakeholdering process goes along, and as I say, targeting the Stakeholder Advisory Committee meeting prior to the IESO board meeting, where the day-ahead market recommendation would be considered.  


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Regarding an item under issue 5, it is Hydro One's understanding that there are going to be a large number of system impact assessments that are going to be required over the business planning period.  It is Hydro One's understanding that the IESO feels the same way about that; there are references in the business plan to everything that needs to be done in the future regarding changes to the system and new connections and so forth.  


What resources does the business plan contain to support the large number of SIAs that are going to be required over the planning period?  


MR. TENCH:  The connection assessment work that you mentioned there, we recognize the importance of that process to you and to other participants and to us.  


We performed this work on a cost recovery basis, and we currently have ten staff assigned to this function.  This is not just a future work requirement.  This is a continuing work requirement that we have been experiencing for a couple of years now.  


We believe the ten FTEs are a reasonable number and the work associated with the future plans can be accommodated by those on a plan basis, those people.  It is important maybe for me to emphasize that in order for that work to be effective, it requires co-ordination.  


So it is very helpful and necessary, I think, for Hydro One, for example, as they develop their plans, to co-ordinate those with us in terms of timing so that we can make sure your needs are met as well as schedule the work of others.  


As I said, we anticipate the resource that we have available to this are sufficient.  In the event that timelines for study assessments need to be advanced, we just want to remind connection applicants that they may engage consultants to perform work and the IESO will review the results of that work as well, and that is available to people as well.  


MR. ENGELBERG:  Do those ten FTEs have a considerable amount of spare capacity now?  


MR. TENCH:  No.  They are fully occupied, I would say, and, as I said – sorry, go ahead.  


MR. ENGELBERG:  No.  Finish your answer, please.  


MR. TENCH:  They are fully occupied because they are in the process of doing a large number of -- or meeting the need for a large number of fairly short-term infrastructure investment needs.  

We view -- looking at the additional future requirements, we see that that -- roughly that level of support being required over the business planning period.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Is it fair to say, then, that you don't see the number of SIAs as ramping up in the near future from the present level?


MR. TENCH:  One sec.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. TENCH:  Sorry, I just wanted to confirm some of the business plan numbers.


We did identify an increase in 2007 in the connection area ‑‑ the connection assessment area.  So there is an increase in that period to meet those additional connection requirement needs.


MR. ENGELBERG:  If you anticipate an increase in 2007 and if the FTEs that you spoke of are now fully occupied, will they be able to handle those in 2007?


MR. TENCH:  Typically, the nature of these -- of this work is that it associates ‑‑ it comes with large projects, and those projects move through the process to approvals.


In terms of managing the overall work effort, not just in connection assessment but in other system study areas, we have the flexibility to allocate resources between needs.  So I anticipate that that will be what takes place within the IESO, that, as necessary, resources will be allocated between one function and another.


MR. ENGELBERG:  You mentioned 2007.  Would the same hold true for the remainder of the business planning period?


MR. TENCH:  I better check -- check that.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LEONARD:  Can you repeat that question, the last question?


MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Tench mentioned that for 2007 the IESO has made plans for an increase in the number of system impact assessments and has the capacity to do that.  I am wondering if the same holds true as numbers increase in years after 2007.


MR. LEONARD:  I guess there is two things.  One, just to add to Mr. Tench's response, in terms of that increase that we are seeing in 2007 in terms of our forecast or budgeted revenues, Mr. Tench did identify that the staffing area are fully engaged.


One of the components of what we have seen this year is because this is an area of increased demand within the business, we have brought in staff.  Those staff have, for a certain portion of their time -- more than would be expected over the longer term spent on training.  So there is an area where they didn't have as many, for lack of a better term, chargeable hours as we would expect in that area of the business.  


So moving to 2007, we expect them to have that; and moving beyond 2007, you can see in our plan at this point we have budgeted a similar resourcing level for 2008 and 2009.  And if the situation became such that we didn't believe we could appropriately handle it within our overall resource envelope for 2008 and 2009, certainly we will be back up here for a rate application for 2008 at the time.


MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  Thank you very much.


MR. MILLAR:  Mark, are you up next?


EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  Thank you.


Perhaps I could just start and follow up on a question I asked the first panel, part of the answer for which was punted over to this combined panel.


It stems from our question 2 that we prefiled.  I don't think it was particularly clear when we went through this this morning, so maybe I could just set out that question again and the references and then go to the part of the answer I want to focus on.  


Just to recap, this question 2 looked at the increase in staff at the corporate relations and market development side of the business from 39 actual employees in 2005 up to 43 employees in 2009.


What our question had set out is it seemed to us that the number of market evolution activities has been decreasing over time.  The references you see in this question to seven market evolution initiatives in the 2004 to 2006 plan - that is actually the reference - page 28, to that older plan.  


So on that older plan on page 28, it was seven initiatives.  When you move to the 2005 to 2007 plan, it dropped down to five initiatives.  And the reference there was page 34 on that 2005 to 2007 plan.


Then if you go to page 16 of the current business plan, the 2007 to 2009, you will see that we are down to one initiative, the DAM, with reliability resource adequacy for 2008.


Part of the ‑‑ hopefully that clarifies where we sourced the information.  It wasn't all on this business plan.  It had referenced back to earlier business plans.


But part of the answer to this question which I want to focus on is the response this morning that part of the reason why there was an increase in staff was to deal with business cases for market evolution activities.  I think, Mr. Tench, you just had a discussion with my friends about that.


Am I right when I say that this really is a new approach for the IESO; that here on in, you will be focussing on business cases for every market evolution initiative that you propose?


MR. KOZLIK:  What is the question?


Firstly, in terms of market evolution initiatives, all activities that I could foresee would fall in that basket will be accompanied with a stakeholder plan.  In that stakeholder plan would be defining how we would follow this process and would include the initiative going to the Stakeholder Advisory Committee.


All of those initiatives that would go to the Stakeholder Advisory Committee for their opinions, and advice on the market evolution initiatives will be accompanied by a business case and cost benefit analysis.


MR. RODGER:  In terms of the ‑‑


MR. KOZLIK:  Sorry, can I just say one more thing?


MR. RODGER:  Surely.


MR. KOZLIK:  You characterize this as a new approach.  We have, in the past, talked about costs and benefits of various initiatives, and I understand that there are some who perhaps would have seen them as done in a different way, but I wouldn't declare it as a new initiative.  But we are developing this market evolution analysis and research function to enable us to perform these going forward.


MR. RODGER:  I think you referred to this as the MEAR, M-E-A-R.


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  I take it this is new.  I don't recall seeing that phrase in the prefiled evidence, or did I miss that?


MR. KOZLIK:  I can't point at the moment.  I thought it was there, but ...

     MR. RODGER:  Just to explore this, is this then a new group within the IESO?  Is it a group of individuals that are comprised of IESO staff that form up this new function?  


MR. KOZLIK:  This is IESO staff.  


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  


MR. KOZLIK:  These are IESO staff with an economics background.  


MR. RODGER:  Hmm-hmm.  


MR. KOZLIK:  They would be in the corporate relations and market development area.  So it is not a new business unit.  It is a group of three.  


MR. RODGER:  A group of three.  Who are the three individuals?  


MR. KOZLIK:  At this point we only know one for sure, and that is the manager in the area.  It is Dr. Brian Avars [phonetic].


MR. RODGER:  The other two will be taken from this corporate management group?  


MR. KOZLIK:  The other two will not be staffed from management.  They will be staffed from what is referred to -– well, Society staff, which is professional staff.  


MR. RODGER:  I see.  At this point have you come up with, if you like, the approach or the template that you will consistently apply to all of these types of initiatives; what the business case will comprise of?  


MR. KOZLIK:  I don't have the template at this point in time.  I would expect this group to be developing that.  


MR. RODGER:  Over the course of fiscal 2007?  


MR. KOZLIK:  Certainly available for the review of the DAM proposal before it proceeds to the IESO board.  


MR. RODGER:  What is the reason for the establishment of this group at this time?  I think in the earlier answer this morning it seemed like this was a response to stakeholders, but maybe you could clarify that.  What is the need that you are trying to meet through MEAR?  


MR. KOZLIK:  The MEAR function will have the capabilities to apply econometric models and market simulations to better understand the impacts of market changes going forward.  Our stakeholder initiatives over the past year have shown us that this sort of analysis is critical to all market participants, that it is something that is particularly of interest to participants, and that we need to have the capability to analyze going forward.  


MR. RODGER:  Is one of the potential outputs of the MEAR review kind of a go, no go type recommendation?  Yes, we think it has met the cost and benefits that were anticipated, or no, this is not an initiative that should be pursued further?  Or is that left up to the stakeholdering community.  


Is the output of the MEAR a business case, and that is then presented to the stakeholders for their consideration?  


MR. KOZLIK:  The cost benefit analysis will be a component of the business case, and that business case, of course, is going to be commented on by all stakeholders, certainly at the Stakeholder Advisory Committee, probably in other stages through the stakeholder plan for that initiative, and all of the stakeholders’ comments will be provided to the IESO board, as well, for them to make their decisions.  


MR. RODGER:  Now, I am just trying to apply this scenario to projects that are already in the plan.  You have already discussed how, with respect to the day-ahead market, there will be stakeholdering throughout this year, and so on, and you filed the revised exhibit yesterday.  


I understand how the MEAR could apply -- let's say that management today for the first time came up with the day-ahead market approach.  Would I take it that day-ahead market would also go through something like the MEAR; in other words, that there would be a business case that would come out of some kind of assessment before it was actually being pursued by the organization?  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Rodger, can you ask that again?  I didn’t understand it.  Certainly there is a day-ahead market initiative.  It is articulated in the business plan.  And there is an actual stakeholder engagement plan around it.  


MR. RODGER:  I think what we heard is that there has been some perceived need by the organization to create this new function, the MEAR.  


I am trying to understand how it will apply.  And we know that DAM is already in the plan.  But if DAM -- for the first time, management decided in 2007 -- there was no history with DAM up to this point, and management said I think this is something that we may pursue, would the MEAR group be the one in charge of establishing a business case?  That, I guess, is the first question for this initiative. 


Then secondly, would the business case have to be produced and sent out there in the industry before the IESO actually acted on it?  


MR. ZACHER:  I think you have to keep to real life examples and not hypotheticals.  


Certainly the day ahead market is an initiative, and as I said there is a stakeholder engagement plan.  There are also other initiatives that are mentioned in the business plan.  If you want to ask about those, I think that is appropriate, but...


MR. RODGER:  I guess the dilemma for AMPCO is, and it is one of the questions that we prefiled, it appears that when DAM was first put forward to the IESO board, there wasn't a business case associated with that at this time.  I gather it was presented as a concept.  And presumably the Board at some point said go out and pursue it.  We have seen the evolution of that over the past couple of years.  We had an earlier question about is there going to be a business case for DAM produced.  The answer seems to be yes.  

I am trying to understand how this new function would apply to an initiative like DAM, if it was coming up for the first time now, because with respect to DAM, it seems like the business case is coming quite a ways down the road after the Board has said go and explore it.  


I thought one of the purposes of the MEAR was to act almost as a screen on day 1, to at least establish the cost benefit analysis first before it went forward.  


MR. ZACHER:  I think I understand where you are coming from.  I won't speak too much for the panel here, but the day-ahead market initiative is an initiative that is articulated in the business plan as something that is -- it is worth pursuing.  Now there is a stakeholder engagement plan, but there hasn't been any decision made on it.  


MR. RODGER:  I guess the question is, in the future, it sounds like from this MEAR process that we are at least going to get a business case first that stakeholders can see showing the costs and benefits of at least what the MEAR function has been able to articulate, as opposed to historical, where management has raised a market evolution initiative and a business case as coming much, much later in the process.  I guess that is my point.  


That seems to be the distinction between this new approach and the historical approach.  Is that a fair characterization, Mr. Tench?  


MR. TENCH:  I will let Mr. Kozlik answer that.  


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Kozlik, I'm sorry.  


MR. KOZLIK:  The MEAR function, their sole responsibility is not to create business cases.  They are a group that will be looking at markets as they have evolved in other jurisdictions and observing what would be beneficial at a high level to Ontario.  They act as a resource to the IESO, and I would say to stakeholders, to be able to provide their expertise and their findings to the guiding of what are market evolution initiatives.  

Then, when the market evolution initiatives have been examined and understood as to what is the best approach appears to be for Ontario, they will be providing a cost benefit analysis to aid in the decision as to whether or not that should proceed.


In the case of day‑ahead market, the day‑ahead market is something that I think, as you alluded to, has been in existence for discussion purposes in our market since even before the market opened.  The original market rules transmitted to the IMO included the concept of an energy forward market one day in advance.


So this is a longstanding, recognized market evolution initiative and is one that we are trying to conduct our stakeholder investigations once again this year and define what is best for Ontario.


MR. RODGER:  That raises some interesting questions I want to get to about the IESO's vision and mandate, but if you would just refer to page 16 of your business plan, rather than ask about an existing plan like DAM, let me just ask it for another initiative that is within the horizon of this business plan, and that is the 2008, the projections that DAM will be in service.


Then we have the reliability resource adequacy market mechanisms to be examined.  Would this MEAR group be preparing a business case on the resource adequacy market proposal?


MR. ZACHER:  Before what?


MR. RODGER:  Will the MEAR group ‑‑


MR. ZACHER:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  -- be preparing a business case on resource adequacy market?


MR. ZACHER:  It would be preparing a business at the same stage of discussing resource adequacy as it is going to for the day‑ahead market.

     MR. RODGER:  So in 2008, we can ‑‑ stakeholders can expect to see a business case produced from MEAR on resource adequacy market, so we can see the costs and benefits that are associated with this market evolution initiative; is that fair?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KOZLIK:  In 2008, as we have stated in our business plan, we are going to be discussing with stakeholders and the OPA, in preparation for recommendation to the IESO board, whether or not resource adequacy is something that should be pursued and, if so, in what form.


If those discussions have proceeded to the point where there is alignment on what that form should look like and a recommendation appears to be consolidating, we will proceed with a business case and cost benefit analysis before approaching the IESO board.


MR. RODGER:  I see.  So it will be slightly different.  With respect to resource adequacy, you are going to see whether there can be consensus with stakeholders first before the MEAR group even looks at it to establish a business case?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LEONARD:  Mr. Rodger, I guess I have the benefit of being ‑‑ I will consider myself a layperson in this area in respect to Mr. Kozlik, so I could see how ‑‑ I believe you are misconstruing it to some degree.


This isn't ‑‑ you have ‑‑ perhaps we have made you believe this is a new function.  It is a new area of resource within the business.  We have always done an analysis of the market.  We have always done different things.  


This is our response to an expressed desire of stakeholders and others of us to, I guess, increase our robustness of those business cases that people have been looking for.


This area of resources within the business is a resource area to, for one group, market evolution.  They are not a go/no-go group.  They are not making those determinations.  They're a resource to allow us to increase the robustness of that analysis that we might have otherwise done.


They aren't ‑‑ they aren't a stop/go authority within the business.  They're a resource.


MR. RODGER:  I guess the genesis of this whole questioning was to understand, at first base, why a certain amount of staff was increasing when market activities were declining.


I thought the answer was because there was going to be ‑‑ there was more time going to be needed to develop these types of business cases.  Then we have heard that there is going to be this function, at least that has been articulated now, as MEAR.  That is part of their responsibility.  Part of the output of that group is going to be business cases.


We are just trying to understand what they apply to, and I thought it applied to all kinds of ongoing -- at least all ongoing or new market evolution initiatives.


So that is why I have drawn it back to, if DAM is already out there, it appeared to us that looking to 2008, their resource adequacy market was something that you are going to explore as a core activity.  


So I am trying to get the ‑‑ find out if there is a link between this function that you have now articulated and whether that function is also going to apply to next year's market evolution activity.


MR. KOZLIK:  It is my intent that the individuals who are working in the MEAR function, with the background that they have, that they would be engaged in the conversations with participants and stakeholders throughout 2008 on the discussions about resource adequacy, because fundamentally the issue of resource adequacy is addressing the economic efficiency of the marketplace, and this is their expertise.


I don't expect that a formal business case will be available until such time as there's been some alignment as to the model that appears to be beneficial.


MR. RODGER:  Well, I think that part of this discussion really bridges to kind of the next theme that was in our prefiled questions, and that does go to the coordination.  It is really two parts.  One is coordination with the OPA, and the other is your vision or your mandate for this market evolution we have talked about.


In your earlier discussion with some of my friends, you talked about the agreement that had been struck between the IESO and the OPA, both in terms of the memorandum of understanding and the agreement for services.


But I think you would agree with me that those are pretty broad documents, very high‑level descriptions.  And what AMPCO is interested in is:  Have you articulated anywhere, either in writing or in your meetings, a kind of a do-and-don't list for both organizations so that stakeholders can be assured that there is no overlap or no overreaching and that there is a clear understanding between both organizations about who should be doing what, other than the broad statements that we have on the record right now.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KOZLIK:  There are three initiatives that are currently discussed around the ‑‑ around market evolution.  One of them is the day‑ahead market, which has been the subject here, which is being led by the IESO.


The other two are articulated by the Ontario Power Authority in their discussion paper on procurement activities that was published January 5th, and those two are the development of load-serving entities, or a proof of concept for load-serving entities, and the development of forward auctions that create forward prices.


Those initiatives are being led by the OPA.  That has been stated publicly by Jan Carr in a consultation among his management group and stakeholders, and clearly the IESO is taking the lead in the day-ahead market with our publishing of the stakeholder plan.


This was not a negotiation between the IESO and the OPA.  Rather, this was a product of the objects, responsibilities and account abilities that fall on the two organizations through the Electricity Act.  

     MR. RODGER:  Hmm-hmm.  This is an understanding -- is it an understanding from CEO to CEO through a discussion?  Is it papered anywhere that these are the activities, and this is how it is going to be carved up?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  What is papered is the fact that we are proceeding with DAM, and that the OPA have stated in their discussion paper that they are proceeding with a proof of concept for load-serving entities and for forward contracting processes.  

     MR. RODGER:  I will give you another example of how this theme came up during the earlier sessions around issues; again, sticking with page 16 of the business plan for 2008.  

     I don't want to get into the merits of the initiative, but, again, for the resource adequacy market, it just seems to AMPCO that that is a longer term type supply issue, and we spelled out the objects of both your organization and the OPA, where it seems to us at least clear that longer term issues are clearly OPA, and not IESO.  There is an example of have you had the discussion with OPA that you would pursue the resource adequacy market?  

     Is there a clear understanding and coordination that even though this is kind of a longer term supply issue, IESO, you deal with it.  

     MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, we have had this discussion and, once again, I repeat that the concepts of who should take the lead on those isn't a negotiated thing between the two companies, but rather flows from the Act and the objects.  Perhaps it would be beneficial if I was able to explain our logic for that decision.  

     MR. RODGER:  Sure.  

     MR. KOZLIK:  First of all, one of the objects, as you have pointed out, that the IESO has in the Electricity Act is to operate the IESO-administered markets to promote the purposes of the Act, which are to operate the system reliably and to pursue economic efficiency.  

     Also in the Act, in section 32 (I), is that the IESO may make rules establishing and governing markets related to electricity and ancillary services.  From that we take guidance that we do have the obligation to run the market efficiently and reliably and to make rules and establish markets for the purposes of the Act.  

     When we look at the OPA's objects, we see that one of their objects is to engage in activities in support of the goal of ensuring adequate, reliable and secure electricity supply and resources in Ontario.   

     As you point out, in carrying out that object, they are clearly looking at longer term supply questions.  

     We get further guidance from two regulations, one of them O.Reg. 426.04, which discusses the OPA procurement process, and states that the OPA:

"shall not commence procurement processes unless it has assessed the capability of the IESO markets or the likelihood that investment will meet the need for electricity."

     So the OPA's procurement activities are after having examined the market's ability to encourage that sort of activity.  The second regulation that we turn to is O.Reg. 424.04, which is in regards to the innovative power system plan, in which it is stated that:  

"The OPA is directed to identify and develop innovative strategies to encourage and facilitate competitive market-based responses and options for meeting overall system needs."

     These regulations also tell us that the OPA is to be looking to the market and to be encouraging the market to be able to fulfil this role.  We further take guidance from the statements that Minister Duncan said when Bill 100 was originally introduced to the House, in which he said, and I quote:  

"Moving forward with market evolution in a prudent and cost-effective manner would be a key priority for the IESO."

     Shortly after Jan Carr in his first speech to the Board of Trade, his first speech as the president and CEO of the Ontario Power Authority, mentioned that the procurement program was to be temporary, as over time the competitiveness of the Ontario electricity market would develop to the point where their central procurement would no longer be needed.  

     We see this reinforced in their procurement discussion paper of January 5 of 2007 that I mentioned earlier, which states that -- in it, it states that:

"The OPA will continue to develop innovative strategies in cooperation with the IESO and through stakeholder consultations.  The OPA supports IESO market evolution initiatives."

     We also looked to last year's decision on our rate in which the Board, in making their decision on our IESO fee submission, recognized that the IESO's role is largely unchanged as a result of Bill 100.  

     From that, we recognize that the OPA has an accountability and a responsibility to look to long-term supply.  We also recognize that there is clear direction that we are to be pursuing maturation of the market so that it can take over the role of procurement of future generating sources.  

     MR. RODGER:  Stepping back for the moment, then, looking to next year and the resource adequacy market, I take it from your answer that IESO certainly believes that this is within the objects and within your jurisdiction, and that, secondly, the OPA also clearly has said this is something you should pursue as opposed to them pursuing.  

     MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Rodger, I object to that question.  We fenced around this on the Issues Day a little bit.  The fact is that the resource adequacy initiative that is articulated in the business plan is with respect to 2008, and it is with respect to talking about it in 2008.  No money is to be spent on it.  

     This is an issue that was front and centre as part of the 2005 proceeding before the Board.  At that time AMPCO took issue with it, but was ultimately mollified by the IESO's assurance that no resource adequacy initiative would proceed without consultation with the OPA.  

     MR. RODGER:  I think the -- 

     MR. ZACHER:  And a finding of the Board. 

     MR. RODGER:  I think, as reflected in the current business plan, it is describing the resource adequacy market as a core initiative for the IESO.  An issue before this Board is evidence of coordination between the two organizations.  So the simple question is, with respect to this core activity, are you satisfied and confident that the OPA is on side that IESO should be doing this; that it's been evidenced through this co-ordination and co-operation that we have been hearing about.  

     That is the extent of the question.  

     MR. ZACHER:  Right.  And Mr. Kozlik said, and it is stated in the business plan, that this is something that will be co-ordinated with the OPA.  At this point in time, the initiative is limited to talking about it in 2008.   So absolutely no commitment to putting it in place.  

     MR. RODGER:  I think from that, then, it is also clear it may not be something that the IESO should be pursuing, because it hasn't been decided yet.  It hasn't been talked about yet.  

     MR. ZACHER:  You can raise that next year, if you like.  

     MR. RODGER:  The bottom line is, there hasn't been any sign off that IESO has been aware of by the OPA that the IESO should be pursuing the resource adequacy market.  

     MR. ZACHER:  Sorry. 

     MR. RODGER:  That there has been no clear articulation or approval by the OPA, in your coordinating discussions to date, that the whole question of resource adequacy markets is something that the IESO should be pursuing.  It hasn't been talked about yet.  Isn't that the answer?  

     MR. ZACHER:  That is because it is not an initiative.  

     MR. RODGER:  It is a core initiative.  It is described in your business case as a core initiative.  

     MR. ZACHER:  As something to be discussed in 2008.  

     MR. RODGER:  All I am trying to say, if it is to be discussed, then the OPA hasn't indicated its acceptance that this is even something the IESO should be pursuing.  

     MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Rodger, it says clearly in the business plan:

"to be discussed with stakeholders and the OPA."

     If there is an intention to move forward with it - that is, to pursue it as an initiative with stakeholders – it will be discussed with stakeholders and the OPA, and at that time there will be whatever necessary coordination needs to take effect. 

     MR. RODGER:  I think as long as the record is clear that this part of the business case is simply the IESO's proposal of what may and could happen in 2008, and the Energy Board should not take from that that somehow the OPA has, through these coordination discussions, said, Yes, we, the OPA, think you, the IESO, should be doing resource adequacy market in 2008, because, as you have just said, that discussion hasn't taken place yet.


MR. ZACHER:  The business plan says what it says.


MR. RODGER:  It is a proposal only.  No understanding on this issue about who should do what with respect to resource adequacy market.  That's the evidence.


MR. ZACHER:  It says what it says.


MR. RODGER:  That's the evidence.


Now, this leads us to the final area that I would describe as the vision for this market evolution that you have been talking about.


This is picked up on our prefiled question 6.  It references page 14 of the business case, and the bottom paragraph reads, in part:   

"Over time the IESO and the OPA will work together with the support of stakeholders to create the industry structure needed to make market-based investments the norm, reducing the need for central procurement to backstop the industry.  This will equip the sector to evolve towards a self-sustaining market‑based vision over time."


AMPCO's concern is that the IESO has already reached a conclusion about its vision for the market, the broader vision for the market, and AMPCO wonders:  Where has that mandate come from, first of all?  


You talked about Bill 100, which is clearly a hybrid market; it is not a full market.  So maybe you could help just put this part of the business plan in context.  Where do you feel your mandate comes from to move towards that end state?


MR. KOZLIK:  I believe that I have answered that question already and explained how the coordination of the Electricity Act and the regulations provides the IESO the mandate to operate the market for the purposes of that Act and establish markets.


MR. RODGER:  But of course the existing legislation does not envision what we perceive to be the IESO's view that we will end up in a true market, in a true competitive world where -- you know, merchant plants; there will be no government backstop.  


Is that kind of the broad vision that you take from the direction that you have described, that that is the government policy of Ontario at this time?


MR. KOZLIK:  We have articulated our vision, and have done so at a high level in our business plan, on page 17 in the three bullets in the middle of the page.


They are what I would describe as an effective market, one where suppliers and consumers are as closely linked as possible in terms of contracting.


We don't say that that is the only possible outcome for Ontario's industry, but we believe that that is something that needs to be explored and discussed with stakeholders.  We are not doing this unilaterally, as we have stated with stakeholders on page -- as you have referenced, on page 14. 


And we will move forward with the evolution of the industry with our stakeholders and the OPA.


MR. RODGER:  But, see, this is what we also flag in our questions.  It seems like you put forward a vision, and then you put forward the component parts, but almost as a conclusion.


I mean, where has the stakeholdering -- where has the input been that comes up with this vision?  We would have thought that we would have engaged in a forum like this to talk about where the market is going or where it could go or where it should not go.  


It just seems, to AMPCO at least, that the IESO, through these types of representations in the business plan, that you already have a vision and AMPCO feels like it has had no opportunity to input on that vision.


MR. KOZLIK:  In November 2005, we posted on our website a discussion piece around market vision, and these fundamental components were pieces of that vision.


That document was discussed at the Stakeholder Advisory Committee first in January of 2006 and then subsequently was discussed in every meeting that they had in 2006.


In addition, we have conducted several meetings and discussions with stakeholders.  Both ourselves and the OPA went out together for these meetings, and I would add that the OPA was present at the Stakeholder Advisory Committee discussions around the vision.  


And we were exploring -- both through the SAC process and through the visits, we were exploring the appetite for market evolution that various stakeholders had.


This was not a campaign to get people to sign off on the vision that we had posted but, rather, as I say, was to understand people's feelings about market evolution.  We included in those discussions also feelings around day‑ahead market.


The Advisory Committee summarized their position on the vision after their July 12th meeting in which they summarize it as that the ‑‑ that the hybrid market is likely to exist for some time, that changes to the hybrid market will usually be accomplished incrementally, and that any changes made to the market must be supported by a sound business case which has been shared with stakeholders, with the extensive opportunity for comment.


This is a very consistent message that we also received in our visits with stakeholders.  These are the backdrop in which we approach our business plan, and we have stated in page 14, as you have pointed out in your reference, that we will be working with stakeholders as we evolve the industry.


We have also stated in our business plan that any future market evolution initiatives will be taken on a step‑by‑step basis with a business case approach to them.


MR. RODGER:  Just staying with page 14 and the reference that I made earlier in my quote, which reads, in part, "... to create the industry structure needed to make market-based investment the norm", how does the IESO define "market‑based investment"?  What do you mean by that?


MR. KOZLIK:  Market‑based investments, in our view, would be investments that were not precipitated as a result of central procurement activities for which the ratepayers are backstopping through long‑term contracts.


MR. RODGER:  So it would be in an environment where the OPA no longer exists; is that fair?


MR. KOZLIK:  Certainly in terms of the procurement activities, yes, I would agree.


MR. RODGER:  And there would be no other government agency or the province itself as the backstop.  It is buyers and sellers doing contracts, isn't it?


MR. KOZLIK:  That would be the ultimate conclusion.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Now, what changes does the IESO think have to be made in order to reach that end state?


MR. KOZLIK:  Well, starting with the market rules, many of the market rules that are needed already exist.  There already exists the capability for contracting between market participants.


The components that aren't there are certainly anything that is needed for day‑ahead market, which gives those that have contracted the ability to fine-tune their contracts as they become more aware of what circumstances they will face the next day.  In that model of market-based investments being made, there may have to be some measures to ensure that there will be adequate resources for the province.  But that, as we have already stated, is up for discussion.  

     For that future to evolve, there has to be liquidity in forward contracting, and liquidity in forward contracting would be further encouraged and reinforced under a load-serving entity structure in Ontario whereby the financial risks of supplying default customers are being managed actively in the market through contracts.  

I am unfamiliar with the sorts of regulatory changes or legislative changes that would be required for load-serving entities.  As I said, that is an initiative that is being investigated by the Ontario Power Authority.  

     We have also stated in the piece that we published in 

November of '85 -- or of 2005 that barriers need to be removed from the ability to do this contracting, and so it has to be made as simple as possible, which implies that there has to be information available, forward prices easily determined, and standard contracts available, which aligns with the initiative that the OPA is pursuing around forward contracting.  

     MR. RODGER:  Would you agree with me that -- you mentioned load-serving entities may require legislative changes.  It is almost certain there will be other legislative changes needed to implement the kind of vision that you are describing.  

     For example, the OPA would have to be extinguished as an organization, at least in part, to remove it as being the back-stop for new generation. 

     MR. KOZLIK:  I don't know that for a fact.

MR. RODGER:  Is it that the IESO seeing blatant deficiencies in the status quo that is moving you to this vision that you want to at some point engage others in, in terms of what the end state should be like?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  We are charged with operating the market under the Act, and we are charged with operating the market and creating market rules to pursue economic efficiency.  We believe that markets will result in economic efficiency.  We have that role, and we are looking at it from that perspective.  

     MR. RODGER:  But what are the deficiencies now, then, that you are concerned about that would move you to seek this alternate vision?  Surely there must be inefficiencies that you are seeing now or perceiving now that want you to move to another state.  

     MR. KOZLIK:  We are operating this within the context of the legislative and regulatory framework that exists today in Ontario, and that sort of policy decision in this framework has been made for us and that is the environment within which we are operating.  

     MR. RODGER:  Can you identify any deficiencies with the status quo?  

     [Witness panel confers]  

     MR. KOZLIK:  At this point and at this setting, I can't talk in terms of the economic efficiencies that are available through market mechanisms versus central procurement.  I think that is a long discussion that we would be wanting to have with our stakeholders as time passes.  

     MR. RODGER:  Finally, have you developed or seen any evidence that the broad-term vision that you are advocating, what net benefits it would have for Ontario consumers, that is, guiding you in this movement towards the vision you have described?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  Under the hybrid structure, there is a central procurement mechanism which effectively contributes to a separation between consumers and suppliers.  And as that separation occurs and this level of insulation between the two strengthens, then suppliers and consumers are both more disconnected in terms of understanding their options to address their own risks.  

     When consumers have all of the information available to them associated with the costs of supply to electricity, then they will be able to make informed decisions about their own plans to consume electricity.  

     MR. RODGER:  Are you able to -- 

     MR. KOZLIK:  I believe that that is the fundamental driver towards greater economic efficiency and especially for the flexibility and options for consumers.  

     MR. RODGER:  Is it your view that at the end of the day the results of your vision will be lower prices for consumers and increased reliability as compared to the status quo?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  I am a believer in markets, and I do believe that to be so.  

     MR. RODGER:  Fine.  Thank you very much.  Those are my 

questions.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we take a short break until ten to 3:00.  

     --- Recess taken at 2:40 p.m. 


‑‑‑ On resuming at 2:50 p.m.


MR. MILLAR:  Glenn, are you ready?


MR. ZACHER:  Yes, ready.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think we will get started again, if everyone is ready.  

Ms. DeMarco, I think you are next.  In case you missed it, I'm sure you've noticed by now we have collapsed the 2 and 3 panels into one.


EXAMINATION BY MS. DeMARCO:

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

The context in which the Association of Power Producers of Ontario asks these questions is very much influenced by the current state of the electricity sector in Ontario, specifically the growing and unprecedented demand for electricity and the impact that that has on our electricity generation community.  


So with that as context and by way of introduction, the president of the Association of Power Producers of Ontario, David Butters, is with me, reflecting the importance of this issue to the generation community.


So first and foremost, can I refer you to Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, pages 13 and 14, which refers specifically to the day‑ahead market?  


The IESO specifically indicates that in 2006, it is intending to initiate consultations on a day‑ahead market to facilitate the efficient and reliable evolution of the Ontario electricity market.  Specifically, the IESO indicates that its proposed market evolution initiatives are underpinned by a long-term vision of a stable Ontario electricity market developed, in part by the Ontario Power Authority.


Can I ask, first:  What are the underlying factors that have prompted the IESO to continue to pursue market evolution initiatives and, specifically, a DAM in the context of Ontario's hybrid electricity system?


MR. KOZLIK:  I would like to start with specifically addressing the DAM and why that is part of the market evolution initiatives, the one that we are focussing on in 2007.


The day‑ahead markets anywhere really provide three benefits.  We have listed the benefits in our business plan on page 50 at the top, and there are five bullets there.  The bullets, as I say ‑‑


MS. DeMARCO:  I have that reference, thank you.


MR. KOZLIK:  -- fit into three categories.  One of the categories is the ability to coordinate resources for the next day's operation.  So I would put the first, second, and last bullets on that list in that category.


The second benefit that a day‑ahead market brings is the ability for participants to perform risk management activities, which would be the fourth bullet in that list, and the third is greater price discovery for the next day, which corresponds to the third bullet.  


I apologize for addressing them in opposite orders.


I would like to address each of those, if I could, in discussing the context of why a DAM fits into our market evolution initiatives.


In regards to the reliable coordination of resources, over the next three years we ‑‑ there are plans in place for over 3500 megawatts of gas‑fired generation to be integrated into the Ontario system.  We do have some gas‑fired generation currently on the system and some with the same characteristics as these new facilities will have, which is modern combined-cycle efficient gas‑fired generation.


We are aware that these generators have some different operating characteristics to those that previously have been relied upon for many years in Ontario.  Compared to the coal-fired plants which have existed in Ontario for a long time, these combined cycle plants tend to have much higher minimum loading levels.  They tend to have longer minimum operational times, and they tend to suffer greatly in terms of efficiency when their output is varied by dispatch.


Given some of these characteristics, we are looking to our neighbouring markets, who are already operating with substantial portions of gas‑fired generation in their fuel mix, and seeing that they coordinate operation in a different way than do we currently.


They have gone to an optimization of the use of resources for the next day, which coordinates not only the start-up schedule of new plants, but also the use of generators that are limited in the amount of energy they can produce in any one day, such that they are used optimally to produce the schedule for the next day.


We are going to be investigating whether or not that is the sort of unit commitment methodology, day‑ahead coordination of resources, that we need to move to in Ontario.  That's part of the day‑ahead market stakeholder plan.


So that one is very much linked to ensuring reliable operation of the system for the next day.  It has a side benefit of providing a more efficient schedule, as well.  It could have.  We will be investigating that.


The second feature of a day‑ahead market is, as I mentioned, that of risk management, and that is where participants in the day‑ahead market have the opportunity to procure a position through that market that allows them to pay a day‑ahead price and be shielded from the real-time price.


The ability for consumers and producers to be able to have this level of assurance of price for the next day can open them to decisions and flexibilities that they do not have by only looking at a real-time price.  So we believe that this risk management function can result in greater possibilities for demand response and greater contributions by embedded generators and directly connected generators.  


The third, price discovery, it is common in other markets that where there are day‑ahead markets, the day‑ahead price is a reasonable indicator of the real-time price.  Of course, that is not true when there are disturbances on the day, but normally that is an indicator.  


So that level of greater understanding of the expected real-time price that a day‑ahead price can give can also allow participants to use that signal to plan their operations, not necessarily actually actively participating in the DAM but using the signal in order to operate more efficiently in real time.


So we see these three different domains of benefits as day‑ahead markets, all of which we think need to be investigated for Ontario, all of which we are investigating as this ‑‑ in 2007 initiative and will do a complete analysis and provide a business case for it, as well.


MS. DeMARCO:  Can I just follow up on your second and third points in relation to shielding entities from the real-time price and, thirdly, in relation to providing better price signals?


Would those two factors be particularly important in the context of recently changing climatic extremes that entities need to address?


MR. KOZLIK:  The risk management component that I talked about, I believe I also mentioned that it provides people an opportunity to fine-tune their contracts or their positions for the next day's operation.


So it is not uncommon in other day‑ahead market jurisdictions that participants have forward contracts and then arrive a day ahead and realize that they are either undercontracted or overcontracted, and then take positions in the day‑ahead market to counter positions in the day‑ahead market in order to arrive at the position that they want, given the circumstances they now know is going to occur in real time.  

     It may be reasonable to assume that climatic extremes can create greater variation, in terms of expectation of demand, especially when that demand may be driven by 

air-conditioner load.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Can you tell me what are the potential implications if the IESO were not to proceed with the DAM.  

     MR. KOZLIK:  As I have mentioned, the benefits of a DAM, I have not said that we are for sure going to go ahead with the features of a DAM that address each of those benefits, because we are unsure that they are necessary or will provide value in Ontario.  

     Assuming that they are necessary, then to not proceed with the DAM could put in question our ability to coordinate resources in a reliable fashion for next day's operation, but again that is built on the assumption which we will be exploring in the day-ahead stakeholder plan.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  What benefits will the IESO's proposed market evolution measures, specifically the DAM, bring to wholesale market participants and end-use electricity customers in Ontario?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  I think I covered many of these. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Is it fair to say your points outlined in the items on page 50 of schedule B, tab 1 would be a response to that question?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  That is the context within which I answered these questions, was to go through those in terms of the benefits for reliability for risk management and price discovery.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  What specific challenges does the IESO anticipate it will encounter in developing and implementing a DAM in 2007/2008?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  I think most people are aware that there has been attempts to develop a DAM for Ontario in the past.  They haven't materialized.  It shows that it is a challenging activity to take on.  

     I would like, if I could, to address the challenges in those three same domains I mentioned before.  From a reliability perspective, in 2006, in response to the reliability challenges we faced in -- summer of 2005, the IESO implemented the day-ahead commitment process.  The day-ahead commitment process was designed to increase the reliability of imports of power to Ontario and to provide the financial guarantees to domestic generators who were committing to operate for the next day.  

     That DACP, which we talked about earlier, in effect has accomplished some of the benefits that one would normally expect to have gained by pursuing a day-ahead market if you were starting from scratch.  

So in some ways, we have moved down the road a little already of having benefitted from some of the reliability gains of coordinated operation the day ahead.  

     There are stronger drivers from a day-ahead market than exists in the DACP, and we will be investigating those in the stakeholder plan.  

     If I was to address the benefits from risk management that a day-ahead market brings, in Ontario we have the hybrid market and the hybrid market involves many contracts with generators, some of them OPA held; some of them, rather than contracts, are regulations on the prices earned by assets, OPG assets.  And the impacts of those contracts and regulations, relative to the actual market price, are reflected to consumers through the global adjustment.  

     At this point, the global adjustment has resulted in a shielding to the market price that consumers have to the extent of about 80 percent of their consumption.  So we have consumers that are already, in many ways, shielded from the real-time market price, substantially.

So one of the challenges is, will those consumers make use of a day-ahead market to augment that hedge that already exists?  We will have to be investigating that.  

On the other side of the market, these generators have these contracts.  As I stated, some of them are fixed price contracts that pay the generators based on the energy they actually produce.  

     Those generators clearly are also insulated from the real-time market and don't have incentives to participate in a day-ahead market.  So we have some challenges on the risk management front on both the supply said and demand side.  

Finally, in terms of price discovery, we are facing the same sort of challenge.  Will the existence of a 

day-ahead price create an incentive for participants to change their actions on the day at hand, given that that price may be better understood by them due to the existence of the day-ahead market?  

     With the existence of the hedge that I referred to through the global adjustment, again, that question is something that we have got to look into.  I had said finally I would be remiss if I didn't also address the challenge that we have associated with creating a day-ahead market in Ontario, given that we have a single price for energy across the province.  

Day-ahead markets in other jurisdictions are conducted based on locational prices, and so the results of the 

day-ahead markets that suppliers see are very closely aligned to the physical operation that they are likely to incur in real time.  

     If our day-ahead market is operating on a single price basis, then the results from that day-ahead market may not correspond well with the way that those suppliers are actually going to be asked to be operated in real time by the IESO.  So there can be a disconnect between the results of the day-ahead market and the actual dispatch.  

It's this complexity or this concern that drove the complexity in the day-ahead market design proposed in 2003 and 2004.  

     We will be examining the degree to which this complexity affects the benefits that a day-ahead market would bring.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  You have addressed in part how the IESO 

intends to address such challenges, in particular, in relation to the last challenge you identified, the dispatch DAM discrepancy.  Can you highlight how the IESO intends to address the other challenges that you mentioned, specifically the uptake on the demand and supply-side?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  No, I can't right now.  That is what we are going to be exploring through our design efforts over the next months and stakeholder process through to September of ‘07. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So fair to say that the IESO's approach to addressing these challenges will be largely influenced by stakeholders?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  Most definitely.  In fact, if you look at the stakeholder plan that was just published yesterday, the first step in this stakeholder plan has the IESO distributing to all stakeholders, all involved stakeholders, a list of questions about how they would use a day-ahead market.  We intend for these questions to be sufficiently detailed so that stakeholders will have to consider the sorts of -- the environment that I have described already in producing their answers.  And it is that stakeholder feedback that is going to frame for us what the objectives of Ontario's day-ahead markets should be.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  In relation to, in part, the issue on the list pertaining to OPA and Board and IESO coordination, I wonder if you can tell me how a DAM will assist the OPA, the Ontario Energy Board, and the Ministry Of Energy and stakeholders in ensuring there is sufficient generation capacity to meet the growing, and certainly this year, unprecedented demand of Ontario's residential and industrial power consumers.  


MR. KOZLIK:  The day-ahead market we do consider to be a market evolution initiative.  It is an initiative that can be a step along the road towards an evolved market.  


We are addressing this day-ahead market in a step-by-step basis, and it will only proceed if it has appropriate business case.  


However, within the context of evolving the market, the day-ahead market is considered to be a critical element for the operation of load-serving entities that manage the price risk to default customers.  


Default customer load is one that is most significantly impacted by weather changes.  As a result, default customer load is one that is the most difficult to forecast in advance.  


In a day-ahead, when weather patterns or weather expectations are better known than when the forecasts were made, load-serving entities typically, in other jurisdictions, made great use of a day-ahead market in order to fine-tune their hedges for the next day.  


Can you repeat the question, if you feel I haven't answered it?  


MS. DeMARCO:  I think you have predominantly answered it.  It was in relation to a DAM and how it might assist each of the OPA, the OEB and the Ministry of Energy and stakeholders in ensuring that there is sufficient generation capacity to meet the demand of Ontario's residential and industrial power consumers. 


It is the industrial piece that I don't think you have specifically addressed yet.  


MR. KOZLIK:  There is no question the day-ahead market can facilitate sufficient generation capacity to meet the demand in the next day.  I have talked of the reliability benefits that can come from a day-ahead market, which of course is a benefit to all stakeholders.  


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  My next series of questions relates to Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, specifically page 15.  


Do you have that reference?  


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, I do.  Yes.  


MS. DeMARCO:  On this page you indicate that a DAM would provide the ability to address some fast-approaching operational challenges that will be brought about by the changing operational characteristics of the Ontario generation fleet.  


What specific operational challenges is the IESO referring to?  


MR. KOZLIK:  The operational challenges we are referring to there I have alluded to already, in terms of the change in the generation fleet in Ontario.  They refer to the changing characteristics of those new generators relative to the existing generators that have been used in the past for meeting supply and demand.  I referred to the new combined cycle generation and the fact that over the next three years we expect 3,500 megawatts of that generation to be integrated into the system.  


MS. DeMARCO:  Your answer is specific to the gas generation fleet.  I wonder if you can comment on the renewable generation fleet, and what specific operational challenges would the DAM assist in meeting there.  


MR. KOZLIK:  The majority of renewable generation is 

installed on the distribution system rather than the bulk system, and while not all of it, it can actually control when it runs; some of it can.  


Those that can control when they run could use the price certainty of day-ahead prices in order to better manage when it is that they are planning to run.  


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  How will the DAM address such challenges relating to changing operational characteristics of the Ontario generation fleet; and if you feel that you have covered this answer in your past, please just indicate.  


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, I do, and it relates to how unit commitment and resource coordination would happen a day prior to operation.  


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  This is a question relates in part to an area that my friend Mr. Rodger was dealing with around the vision of the market.  I believe the reference is specifically on page 14 of your business plan.  I will refer you specifically to pages 14 and 15.  


Given the Ontario government's vision of a hybrid 

electricity market, what actions are required of each of the OEB, the OPA, the IESO, electricity generators, power consumers and other stakeholders in order to design and implement a DAM over the next two years?  


MR. KOZLIK:  The primary thing that we need to understand, certainly from electricity generators and power consumers and other stakeholders, is how a DAM would benefit them.  As I've mentioned, the first stage of this stakeholder plan is to try and get that sense.  


That is by far the most critical thing that we need from the industry to understand.  


The DAM is potentially of benefit within the hybrid 

electricity system or within any market context, and it is going to be evaluated on the basis of the benefits that we have talked about within the hybrid electricity system, with those benefits being part of the business case that is going to be presented.    


MS. DeMARCO:  Given that it is necessary to ensure that parties have an understanding of the benefits, and that the IESO coordinates initiatives to facilitate that, can you outline what specific initiatives the IESO is pursuing to effect that coordination relating to market evolution with the OPA's initiative relating to the integrated power system plan?  


MR. KOZLIK:  The closest linkage to the integrated power system plan is in regards to the initiatives that the OPA have described in their discussion paper on the procurement process, and that is the linkage between day-ahead markets and their attempts to perform a load-serving entity proof of concept. 


MS. DeMARCO:  Going forward, the IESO's coordination initiatives would include, for example?  


MR. KOZLIK:  Well, we will be keeping the OPA clearly informed of how our analysis of the day-ahead market is going.  They will be factoring that into their program of the proof of concept for LSEs, and vice versa.  They will be telling us of their drivers for day-ahead markets, given their concepts of load-serving entities.  


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  I would now like you to turn up page 17 of your business plan, Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 17.  


MR. KOZLIK:  Hmm-hmm.  


MS. DeMARCO:  You have that reference up?  


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, I do.  


MS. DeMARCO:  In the business plan the IESO indicates that the market evolution initiatives must enable forward contracting between individual consumers or their agents and suppliers so that such contracts become the dominant force in rationalizing investment in new supply.  


Please itemize the North American jurisdictions with electricity systems that allow for such forward contracting between individual consumers or agents and suppliers.  


MR. KOZLIK:  Firstly, the mechanisms that are required for that sort of contracting to go on, they already exist.  The Ontario IESO Administered Market Rules provide the capability for bilateral contracts between market participants.  And that is true in every jurisdiction where there is electricity market; every jurisdiction allows that sort of contracting.  

Whether or not that contracting plays the role as the dominant force in ‑ I want to get the words right ‑ in driving new investment depends on many factors, and there is really a spectrum of possibilities.  


The extent to which there are capacity markets in other markets starts to provide alternative means or alternative revenue flows to incent investments.  So in those jurisdictions where there are contracts available in capacity markets, while those contracts may be rationalizing the investment, they are not solely on their own rationalizing the investment, but so is the capacity market.


So the question of which jurisdictions in which those contracts are rationalizing the investment actually requires some analysis.


From my exposure to the markets in North America, I believe that the markets that come closest to that are Alberta, Texas and California.  Alberta has an energy-only market.  California has recently put in place a requirement for load-serving entities to demonstrate to the IESO that forward contracts exist sufficient to supply their obligations and plus a reserve margin.  And Texas has published information that 95 percent of their market activity is cleared through bilateral contracts.  In those instances, those are strong drivers, in terms of the impacts of bilateral contracts on investment.


MS. DeMARCO:  You have differentiated between jurisdictions that allow for forward contracting, between individual consumers and agents and jurisdictions where that is the, to use your words, dominant force.


Could you undertake to provide a list of the broader category, that being jurisdictions with electricity systems that allow for forward contracting between individual consumers and agents and suppliers?


MR. KOZLIK:  All of the jurisdictions with markets allow contracting between ‑‑


MS. DeMARCO:  Would you please undertake to provide a list of such jurisdictions?


MR. ZACHER:  Can you just clarify what you are looking for?


MS. DeMARCO:  I am specifically looking for, Glenn, a list itemizing the North American jurisdictions with electricity systems that allow for such forward contracting, so forward contracting specifically, between individual consumers and agents and suppliers.  


So to the extent that the answer was all such jurisdictions that have electricity systems or competitive electricity systems provide for this, could you please provide the list of such jurisdictions?


MR. ZACHER:  Sorry, I may have misunderstood.  I thought Mr. Kozlik said that they all do.  It is just a question of what underlying factors make it the dominant force for investment.


MS. DeMARCO:  I understand the distinction as prefaced the request for the undertaking.  I understand that, if I am correct here ‑ please correct me if I am wrong ‑ there are a number of North American jurisdictions that provide for forward contracting between individual consumers' agents and suppliers, and there are also a subset number of jurisdictions wherein that contracting is the dominant force.


What I am asking an undertaking for is the first list.


MR. ZACHER:  I think Mr. Kozlik can provide you with the names of those right now and we don't need to give an undertaking.


MR. KOZLIK:  The markets that are operating in North America consist of New England, New York, PJM, Midwest IESO, Texas, California, Alberta, Ontario, and The Southwest Power Pool, as well as markets being ‑‑ there is also market initiatives in the Maritimes, and, I'm sorry, but I don't know the status of whether they are active right now, or not, or whether they are in service yet.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  How will a DAM and related market evolution initiatives contribute to industry‑wide conservation and demand management, demand responsiveness?


MR. KOZLIK:  A day‑ahead market can contribute to demand management and demand responsiveness on the part of large industrial customers through their active participation in the day‑ahead market, in which they can procure a position that would allow them to then adjust their real-time operations to match that position.


So if there is a scenario where there is a high price for the day, they may secure only a small position and lower their consumption to reflect that.  If they see low prices, they would do the opposite.


So there is demand responsiveness available through industrial consumers as a result of the ability to respond to day‑ahead prices.  Smaller consumers are less likely to participate directly in a day‑ahead market but would have available to them the day‑ahead prices which they could then use, if they so chose, to adjust their consumption, understanding what are the expensive times of the day versus the cheaper times of the day.


MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, to the extent that there are ‑‑ that a DAM would facilitate demand responsiveness, particularly by large industrial consumers, is it fair then to assume that it is possible that a DAM would also result in reductions in emissions associated with the demand responsiveness of such industrial customers?


MR. KOZLIK:  I don't know specifically, but that would seem logical.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  If I can refer you to Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, pages 33 and 34.  Just let me know when you've got the reference up.


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, we have it.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  In this schedule of capital project expenditures, the IESO indicates that projected spending for the DACP is likely to be in the range of $4 million lower than anticipated in the 2006 budget, with total capital costs in the range of $2.7 million.


Does the IESO anticipate that the capital investments included in the DACP can be used to support the design and implementation of the DAM?  If you feel that you have covered this in the response to Mr. Caputo, just say so.


MR. KOZLIK:  I believe that to be true.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Then, finally, referring to page 50, you've got that up?


MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  The IESO indicates that the DAM will result in a reduction of failure of energy import in real time.  Please explain how specifically the design and implementation of a DAM will impact the current failure of energy imports in real time.


MR. KOZLIK:  I think there is two ways that energy imports may become more reliable as a result of the day‑ahead market.  The first one is by comparing the drivers under a day‑ahead market that importers would have to actually carry through with their transaction versus the drivers they have in the day‑ahead commitment process today.


The current guarantee that is provided to importers under the day‑ahead commitment process is that if they deliver, they will be guaranteed at least their offer price into the market. 


The guarantee that an importer would have under a day‑ahead market is that they would be guaranteed the market clearing price.  The market clearing price will be at least as high as the offer price and, in many instances, higher. 

Therefore, they will have a stronger driver, in many instances, to appear in real time than they do under the day-ahead commitment process.  

The second reason why I believe that imports will become -- would become more reliable under a day-ahead market is that the current day-ahead commitment process performs its functions by looking only at Ontario demand for the next day, whereas most expectations would be that a day-ahead market would look -- be looking at the full market demand, which includes exports from Ontario.  

So any imports to Ontario today that may be happening because there is also an export opportunity from Ontario to another market are only showing up in real time; whereas, in a day-ahead market, those imports would also show up in the day-ahead.  Having showed up in the day-ahead, they have a higher reliability or potentiality of being reliable in real time.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  My last question is just a follow-up question in response to questions you have answered on the market evolution analysis and research group.  Have I got the acronym right for MEAR?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  I am just a little confused in relation to your answers and I want to make sure I have the understanding right.  

     I understand that the stated functions of the MEAR in relation to the DAM are as follows:  First and foremost, the DAM would be a central part of market evolution that forms part of the IESO's costs and fees in 2007, specifically part of this business plan.  

     MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Secondly, a specific and detailed DAM design will be subject to consultation and stakeholdering and IESO board approval.  Have I got that right?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Good.  Then the MEAR is intended to contribute analysis on the specifically proposed DAM design to respond to the requests of stakeholders and facilitate transparency in its analysis.  Have I got that right?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  The MEAR function will assist us in developing the cost benefit analysis and business case, yes.  I think that is consistent with what you said.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So what the MEAR will not do is undertake the preliminary analysis as to whether or not you go forward with the DAM.  That has been done already, is that correct?

     MR. KOZLIK:  I would not characterize it that that has been done already.  We don't know what we are going to go forward with until we have conducted the design exercise over the next few months.  

     MEAR is just the name of a unit, and these are individuals that will all be working in my area.  They will be assisting us with their own expertise, throughout that design effort as well.  They bring an expertise to the table for us to do a better job.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Just so I am crystal on this point, let me make a distinction between “the DAM” that you ultimately go forward with and “a DAM.”  

     Is it fair to say that some form of a DAM forms part of this business plan and you intend to go forward with some form of a DAM; whereas, the MEAR will be assisting you in analysis of "the DAM" that you intend to stakeholder?

     MR. ZACHER:  Ms. DeMarco, could you break that down?  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Into two questions?  I'm sorry, I don't understand your request, Mr. Zacher. 

     MR. ZACHER:  I am just not clear, so I just want to make sure we are clear on the question before it gets answered. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Let's start from first principles.  There is a distinction between a DAM, some form of a day-ahead market, whole class of day-ahead markets around the world; fair?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  Yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  The IESO intends to go forward with a specific DAM design following consultation with stakeholders; is that fair?

     MR. KOZLIK:  We will be recommending to the IESO board a specific DAM design following consultation with stakeholders. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  So the MEAR group's activities will be in relation to the recommendations of the IESO and analysis thereof; is that fair?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  That is true, but that is not the only function they will perform.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  What I want to be crystal clear on is that they will not be involved in analysis of whether a DAM is wise to pursue at all?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  They are a resource to my area which will be including in its stakeholder plan whether or not a DAM should be going forward.  And the capabilities and knowledge that they have will assist us in defining whether or not a DAM goes forward.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Right.  So they're -- they perform a support function to your group. 

     MR. KOZLIK:  Yes, they do.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Colin, are you next?  

     MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, I am.  Thanks, Mr. Millar.  

     EXAMINATION BY MR. ANDERSON:  

     MR. ANDERSON:  I will start with an issue that was initially broached this morning but was punted from the first panel to this one, and it dealt with - Ken, I am not sure if you were in the room at the time - it dealt with the transmission rights clearing account and the disbursement of that account.  

     Now, I was assured that this issue does not impact on the current IESO fees application, and I appreciate that and as a result I am not pursuing this any further today, but in order to be comprehensive, I just wanted to close the loop on the question that I had this morning.  

     It was around the, number one, can I find some information on your website -- because I appreciate according to Ted, this is not filed within the materials because of GAAP principles -- it isn't necessary to be filed pursuant to GAAP principles - correct me if I am wrong, Ted - but I would like to get some additional information, number one, the qualities of the account and, number two, how it will be dispersed.  

I guess my question to Ken is:  Is that information out there in the public domain that I could access it?  Again, that is just to close off this issue.  

     MR. KOZLIK:  We publish the required component pieces for someone to have been able to calculate the TR clearing account.  And I should back up from "calculate" but to “estimate.”  

The TR clearing account is a function of many things.  It is a function of the flows of the intra-ties.  It is a function of the differences of crisis between the external zone and Ontario zone.  It is a function of the price that was paid for the transmission rights themselves through the auction process.  And it is a function of the volume of the -- of transmission rights that were sold.  All of those component pieces are published on the IESO website.  

     What is not published on the IESO website for someone to do a precise calculation is the nature of any defaults that may have occurred in terms of payments for transmission rights or the interest that may have been earned on account as it was built.  In order to be able to do this, you would have had to have been tracking this for a long time; otherwise, an effort would have to be made to go back in history and then rebuild that account.  

     MR. ANDERSON:  Just on the last point that I indicated, is there information somewhere that indicates how the account will be dispersed?  

     [Witness panel confers]  

     MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Anderson, just to clarify.  The reason that the information on this isn't filed as part of this filing is it doesn't impact on the IESO's fee application, as Mr. Leonard referred to earlier.  

If it is okay with you, perhaps we could talk to you offline about this and provide you with whatever information you need.  I just don't know if we -- 

     MR. ANDERSON:  That's fine, Mr. Zacher.  I appreciate that, and I appreciate the fact it was responded to.  

     I will move on, then, to the next question I had.  I had a question on issue 2, capital spending, but I think that has been adequately covered by the questions of those that have gone before me and responses to those questions.  

So we can skip over that one, which brings me to our last question which is on issue number 7, that issue being performance measures.  The reference that I have included in our prefiled materials for Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, of the business plan, and that is specifically pages 23 through 26 that reference the corporate performance measures.  

OPG's question is in relation to demand forecasting.  We have continued concerns relating to the existing demand forecast performance measures.  Our main concern is the existing metrics don't provide the IESO with sufficient incentive to improve the accuracy of its demand forecasts.

     What we are looking for here is will the IESO implement some changes for 2007, specifically including some unpacking of the measures with respect to on- and off-peak and reducing the existing performance measure targets.  If not, can you give me some explanation as to why you don't feel that is appropriate.  

     MR. TENCH:  Yes.  Subject to a request to the Stakeholder Advisory Committee, a working group was established.  This was the demand forecast deviation working group.  

     The information associated with that working group is under Exhibit B, tab 6, I believe.  The objective of that group, I think, encompassed or concerned some of the concerns that you just mentioned.  My understanding is that that group has met several times.  In fact, I believe they met this morning, so I don't know the outcome.  I think the discussion today was to finalize the recommendations from that working group back to the Stakeholder Advisory Committee.  

     In terms of what the IESO will undertake in consideration of what is recommended by this group, we are just a wee bit premature, I think.  But I believe that working group is the vehicle and the right venue to make recommendations to SAC, and hence to improve -- the objective was to improve load-forecasting practices of the IESO.  

     I guess I should at least mention that while I understand OPG has concerns, the market surveillance panel has indicated, or recognizes that the IESO's forecasting is quite good in relation to the IESOs that operate around it, but nevertheless we undertook the working group in good faith, and there will be recommendations that come out of that, I think.  I don't know what those are, though, unfortunately. 

     MR. ANDERSON:  I guess I will just follow up with:  I appreciate that the working group has been struck, and it has met a number of times including this morning.  I, like yourself, do not know what happened at this morning's meeting, so I can't comment on that.  I know that leading up to this morning's meeting, that those recommendations did not address this.  They in fact said that the IESO would continue to look at this, but that no changes would be made to performance measures for 2007.  

     I wanted to pursue it here as well because, again, it is referenced in the business plan, in pages 23 to 26, and in fact, page 23 starts with "to drive the achievement of its business plan", which, to me -- the business plan is the cornerstone of this application.  It was determined as an issue for the application, the question of whether or not the existing metrics were comprehensive and appropriate.  I think this is a question of appropriateness of one specific metric.  

     I appreciate that the working group has been struck.  I don't see recommendations coming out of that working group that I feel are going to address this, so I am raising it here.  

     In looking at some of the data on this subject that exists on your website, there are some significant variations and bias.  I will use bias as the example simply because that is the metric that exists within your corporate performance measures that has the red flag associated with it, where it wasn't achieved.  

     Some of the largest variations are clustered in the summer months, when the demand is also, co-incidentally, the highest.  It doesn't appear, based on this data, the existing metrics provide an adequate incentive to have a reasonable bias all of the time.  

     By way of an example, hypothetically you could aim 

high for the first six months of the year and then aim low for the last six months and still come out pretty good with respect to a bias measurement.  Now, I realize that is not the intent, and I realize that is not what happens, but it is a hypothetical construct.  Or it could be done via an on-peak versus off-peak mechanism, whereas high on the on-peak, low on the off-peak, you come out looking good.  

     It is that structure that OPG is concerned about, and this is why we are looking at unbundled bias metrics in particular as an interest area for us.  We would like to see them split out so we can see what is going on and to drive the appropriate behaviours, both on-peak and off-peak.  

     MR. TENCH:  First of all I would like to correct your 

observation that the bias was red-flagged and was outside of its target range. 

     I believe for corporate performance the bias is an annual measure, although we do record it monthly.  There was one month in which we exceeded 5 percent, but on the actual performance across the year, in 2005, it was 0.76, I believe.  

     Regardless, I believe the discussion at the working group did recognize that there were changes taking place to the forecasting processes, and the latter half of 2006 the bias and the load forecast performance was significantly different in response to revisions to our processes.  Again, I guess the two of us are speculating on what the working group will -- what the outcome will be.  I believe there was no issue with publishing that information.  

The issue was whether it could be a corporate performance measure at this time, given the newness of the process and the change that was made late in 2006.  

     My understanding was that there was agreement to publish that information.  The question might be, is it a corporate performance measure?  But certainly the information was available, and from that to set a reasonable performance measure after we have a little bit more experience.  

     MR. ANDERSON:  On the publishing of the information, I agree it is being published.  It has been for quite some time prior to the existence of this working group.  And I believe that when it was discussed - I don't believe it was last fees application, I believe it was the one before - the IESO agreed to publish the information, and then after that, then it could be looked at with respect to adjustment to performance metrics.  That is why we are looking at it again, the fact that it has been published; both the absolute error and the bias adjustments have been published for quite some time.  

We are now looking to have something done with respect to the performance measures, notwithstanding the newness of the process that has taken place in the last half of 2006.  

     One other thing.  I apologize for the red flag, but I 

thought the corporate performance measures that were on the 

website from June of this year to the end of June had the bias.  That is what I was looking at when I referred to that.  

     MR. TENCH:  Right.  Just for that month, yes. 

     MR. ANDERSON:  Just for explanation purposes. 

     MR. TENCH:  Okay, that's correct.  

     MR. ANDERSON:  I won't pursue it any further at this time, then.  Those are my questions.  Thanks. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Anderson.  There has been a request for a very short break.  Perhaps we could take five minutes, but before we do, I would like to canvas the room.  I think we have three parties left.  Maybe I can get an idea of approximately how long you think you will be with your questions.

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  I expect less than ten minutes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Stephenson. 

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Nothing.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Nothing.  Is there anything from the Society?  

     MR. LONG:  One second, please.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we will take our break and get a 

response after the break.  So just five minutes, please.  

     --- Recess taken at 3:50 p.m. 


‑‑‑ On resuming at 3:59 p.m.


MR. MILLAR:  Are we ready to get started again?  

Okay, Mr. Wightman, I will turn the floor over to you.


EXAMINATION BY MR. WIGHTMAN:

MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  I would like to just clear up a couple of things about performance measures, and then a couple of points arose with the discussion about the DAM.


The reference for one question that I would like a response to is B1, tab 1, pages 21 to 26.  It is about the effective use of funds.  

My understanding is IESO says, Well, we are going to compare what we put in the budget, the $140 million, with what we actually spent.  


That is one measure, presuming that you maintain quality or you have the output and ‑‑ but my question is this:  What if the Ontario Energy Board says 140 is not the right number; it should be 135 or something different?  


What is the appropriate performance target, then, what you put in the budget or the different number that the OEB approves?


MR. LEONARD:  I guess I would identify two things.  One, it is my understanding that the legislation is such that the IESO makes an application of the OEB and, if they disagree, they refer the matter back to us.  So we would then make a subsequent filing that, in likelihood, would be consistent with what the OEB is looking for.


It would also depend on what the nature of, I guess, the rationale of why there is a difference between what we had initially submitted versus what is ultimately approved, but, I mean, at the end of the day, certainly we would be managing our business to that approved threshold, you know, approved by the Board, by the Ontario Energy Board.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Now, I am trying to be nice about this.  This is going to sound bad, but other entities, some people's opinion is that other entities have come for rate applications and sometimes they fluff up certain parts of their budget and capital spending in a rate proceeding as something that has usually got some head room.  It usually comes down.


I had originally asked in my ‑‑ the question I sent to you:  Tell me which projects could be deferred.  I don't think that is necessary, but could you please let me know that all of the capital budget items that you've got listed in the appendix at the end of your business plan, they might be able to be deferred, but they are ones you are going to proceed with; is that correct?  


You've got this long list at the end of your business plan, many little projects.


MR. LEONARD:  Yes.  I mean, at this time, it is our view that all of those projects, over the life of the business plan, are necessary.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Thank you.  Your performance measure and market evolution, I am wondering if you can give me some help as to how stakeholders will be able to judge how effective you've been in encouraging reliable supply and improved economic efficiency.  


I mean, that is a good goal, but I am not clear on how we would measure how well you did on that.


MR. KOZLIK:  If I was a stakeholder and trying to assess how effective the IESO's been in conducting what they are doing, I think there is two ways that ‑‑ there's two places I would look, two ways that I would do that.  


One of them is, in any particular initiative that we are going forward with, we will have stated the goals that that initiative is going to achieve.  

So in the day‑ahead market example, we will be establishing the goals as a function of what we hear back from the questions that we are going to submit, and we will measure the effectiveness relative to those goals.


An example of how we did that was in the day‑ahead commitment process that we implemented in 2006.  We had stated three goals for that, reviewed the process in the fall, and reported on the effectiveness of the day-ahead commitment process relative to those goals.


Now, that is a rather micro perspective.  What you are asking is a more macro question.  I would start by saying that I would, as a stakeholder, be looking to the reports that are produced by the market surveillance panel of the Ontario Energy Board.  


They produce a report at least annually - and traditionally it's been two a year - that reviews the state of the market, in terms of its effectiveness, at both ensuring reliability and ensuring economic efficiency.


So that is the place that I would go, as a stakeholder, to be looking to see the effectiveness of the IESO-administered market, in terms of ensuring reliable supply or economic efficiency.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay, thank you.  The performance measure of customer stakeholder satisfaction, basically I was interested in whether you had ever considered saying, Well, we want a customer and/or stakeholder satisfaction rating of 75 percent, at least good or very good or above, some sort of metric where people tell you, Yeah, we are happy with you. 


Have you thought about commissioning some kind of survey or something like that and having some kind of goal to give you some feedback?


MR. KOZLIK:  The answer is “no.”  We do conduct a stakeholder survey in which there's over 80 interviews of market participants associated with their satisfaction of the IESO, and we get measured on an annual basis.  


They would be looking at the performance of account managers, the performance of the IESO staff as they carry out their day‑to‑day activities with more production‑related activities with stakeholders, and we use that, then, to develop a plan as to how to improve the IESO's performance. 


We have not considered a conglomerate figure on that basis.  We think that the process we use now gives us focussed results that allow us to focus on improvement.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Just a couple of questions.  I am going to -‑ they basically arose during your discussion of the DAM.


I think you have said earlier that customers have been shielded from market prices or real-time prices.  By that, you mean ‑‑ you don't mean they haven't been paying; they don't end up paying the full cost of the power, but you mean -- I take it you mean that when prices are high, they're using too much; and when prices are low, they are using too little because they are not getting those signals.  


Is that what you mean by being shielded from real-time prices or ...

     MR. KOZLIK:  What I mean is that ‑‑ can I ask a question as to what consumers you might have in your mind?


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Well, anybody that does not have a time of use or real-time price, if I get billed at however many cents per kilowatt-hour, regardless of when I use it.


I actually was asking you what you meant by “shielded by prices,” and I was guessing at what I thought you meant.


MR. KOZLIK:  My reference was to those consumers that are charged the hourly Ontario energy price for their hourly quantity that is consumed.  That is not the regulated price plan consumer population.  That is consumers greater than 250 kilowatt‑hours in the province, which includes, of course, large industrials.


It is those consumers who are charged the hourly Ontario energy price, hour by hour, against the quantity they have consumed, but then receive an adjustment at the end of each month reflective of the global adjustment, and a further adjustment every quarter as a function of the OPG rebate.  


As a result of those adjustments, their end-of-the-day bill does not reflect the market prices in its entirety.


MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Then let me ask you a little different version of this.  You get your day‑ahead market going, and presumably I guess one thing that will be important will be the amount that suppliers commit to the day‑ahead market, because if they don't commit almost all of it, you are still going to probably have problems, as they found out, I think, in some of the jurisdictions you were speaking about being familiar with.


But once that is all in place and there are real-time pricing or time-of-use price things and day‑ahead pricing, should anybody be able to buy energy at a fixed price, regardless of when they use?  


Should you be able to get a fixed price contract?  If so, why, because you are still going to be using too much when the price would be high and too little when it would be low?


MR. KOZLIK:  The market provides customer choice and, as such, if there is a supplier willing to supply a customer with a fixed price and a customer wants a fixed price, that, in my opinion, falls in the category of customer choice.  

     What I would hope would exist would be the opportunities for people to be able to make use of either a day-ahead price or a real-time price, react to those prices, adjust their consumption, and actually be financially better off than they would under a fixed-price scenario whereby they are ignoring those market signals.  

There have been some pilots in other jurisdictions around hourly prices being provided to retail customers. 

Invariably, those retail customers have found they are better off, a combination of just awareness of what they are doing and the ability to shift demand from expensive times to cheaper times.  

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Some customers might be willing to pay a little extra just not to have volatility or working about shifting load, though; correct?

     MR. KOZLIK:  Exactly right.  And markets should accommodate those customers as well.  

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  You did mention Alberta, Texas, and California.  You wouldn't say that in each of those they haven't had problems with their markets, retail and wholesale, would you?  I mean, Alberta had to give huge rebates to customers because of problems; they had to 

re-auction about three times things.  California, we are aware of.  And Texas gave us the term “hockey-stick bidding” in the power markets, I guess, because of Dallas.  

     So -- and I think I have heard something about auctions.  I just wanted to say you are aware that there is a Professor Klemperer who writes extensively on auctions and auction designs and they are pretty hard to get right.  As soon as you cover up one thing, somebody springs through another one.  It is a little bit – but, anyhow, I will leave that.  I shouldn't be commenting. 

When you say forward prices allow you to lock in prices, you meant for one day only; correct?  That was your day-ahead market?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  I refer to forward commitments as any commitment forward.  The day-ahead market will give the ability to commit forward one day.  Contractual vehicles can give you the ability to commit forward multiple years.  The auctions that the OPA are handling have had quantities auctioned off as far forward as five years. 

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  When you determine that the day-ahead market was the best way or the chosen way to allow people to lock in forward prices, that is not the only way there is to lock in forward prices, is it?  I mean, contracts for differences were widely used, in my understanding, in the pool in the UK, like, over 90 percent of generators, when that pool opened, hedged exactly that way because everybody says they want a real-time price but they all want to hedge against it.  

     MR. KOZLIK:  When I refer to “forward contracts” or “forward commitments,” they don't have to be arranged through the IESO or the OPA auction.  They can be out of the market contracts for differences.  The concept is that people are actively managing their risk around price and those active managements then result in incentives for people to take actions.  

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay.  Last thing, I will just ask you to comment on a quote attributed to Alfred Khan.  I am sure everybody is aware of the Godfather of deregulation or whatever.  A quote attributed to him by a number of different sources is:   

“I'm worried about the uniqueness of the electricity markets.  I've always been uncertain about eliminating vertical integration.  It may be one industry in which it works reasonably well.” 

Do you have any comment on Professor Khan's thoughts on electricity?  

     MR. KOZLIK:  Not at this point.  I suspect that would be a very long conversation.  

     MR. WIGHTMAN:  Okay, thank you.  

     MR. MILLAR:  If there are any questions –- 

     MR. LONG:  No further questions, but prior to the wind-up, I would appreciate an explanation of what the next day might look like on the 17th of January, if you've got kind of an idea of what that might look like. 

     MR. MILLAR:  That's the ADR?  

     MR. LONG:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Caputo has been more involved in it than I, so he can fill in if I am missing anything, but I believe we have a facilitator and we have the room set aside.  

I think the idea will be much like any other thing we do, parties and Board Staff only.  We actually have Practice Direction available covering this which is available on our website, if you haven't seen it.  

Obviously all negotiations are confidential, and the idea is to come out with a settlement on as many things as possible so these things don’t have to be addressed by the Board.  Of course, any settlement would have to go by the Board, would have to be approved by the Board.  

     MR. LONG:  Okay, thank you.  

     MR. MILLAR:  There was nothing from the Power Workers' 

Union; is that right?

     MR. STEPHENSON:  That's right. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Anything from anyone else?  

     MR. ZACHER:  I have one minor correction that was presented to Ms. DeMarco.  I see she has left.  Mr. Kozlik had given her the names of the various jurisdictions where you could forward contract.  I understand Mr. Kozlik’s answer should just be subject to the proviso, the south-west power pool may not be up and running to February. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Zacher, can I ask you to call Ms. DeMarco just to let her know that correction is on the record. 

     MR. ZACHER:  I will, yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  If there is nothing else, I think that concludes our technical conference.  Thank you very much for your attendance and participation, and I guess we will see you next week.  

     --- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 4:15 p.m. 
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